Fundación **BBVA**

Documentos de Trabajo

2007

Antonio Ciccone Giovanni Peri

Identifying Human Capital Externalities

Theory with Applications

Fundación **BBVA**

Identifying Human Capital Externalities

Theory with Applications

Antonio Ciccone¹ Giovanni Peri²

¹ POMPEU FABRA UNIVERSITY ² UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Abstract

The identification of aggregate human capital externalities is still not fully understood. The existing *(Mincerian)* approach confuses positive externalities with wage changes due to a downward sloping demand curve for human capital. As a result, it yields positive externalities even when wages equal marginal social products. We propose an approach that identifies human capital externalities whether or not aggregate demand for human capital slopes downward. Another advantage of our approach is that it does not require estimates of the individual return to human capital. Applications to US cities and states between 1970 and 1990 yield no evidence of significant average-schooling externalities.

Resumen

La identificación de las externalidades del capital humano agregado es todavía una cuestión no resuelta completamente. El método (Minceriano) confunde las externalidades positivas con cambios en los salarios debidos a la relación negativa entre oferta y precio del capital humano. Por consiguiente, este método resulta en externalidades incluso cuando los salarios reflejan el producto marginal social del trabajo. Este documento propone un método alternativo para identificar las externalidades del capital humano con independencia de la relación entre oferta y precio del capital humano. Otra ventaja del método propuesto es que no requiere estimar el rendimiento del capital humano a nivel individual. Utilizando este procedimiento, aplicado a los estados y a las ciudades de Estados Unidos durante el período 1970-1990, no se encuentra evidencia de externalidades significativas del nivel de educación agregado.

Key words

Human capital, externalities, wages, downward sloping labor demand.

Palabras clave

Capital humano, externalidades, salarios, oferta de capital humano. Al publicar el presente documento de trabajo, la Fundación BBVA no asume responsabilidad alguna sobre su contenido ni sobre la inclusión en el mismo de documentos o información complementaria facilitada por los autores.

The BBVA Foundation's decision to publish this working paper does not imply any responsibility for its content, or for the inclusion therein of any supplementary documents or information facilitated by the authors.

La serie Documentos de Trabajo tiene como objetivo la rápida difusión de los resultados del trabajo de investigación entre los especialistas de esa área, para promover así el intercambio de ideas y el debate académico. Cualquier comentario sobre sus contenidos será bien recibido y debe hacerse llegar directamente a los autores, cuyos datos de contacto aparecen en la *Nota sobre los autores*.

The Working Papers series is intended to disseminate research findings rapidly among specialists in the field concerned, in order to encourage the exchange of ideas and academic debate. Comments on this paper would be welcome and should be sent direct to the authors at the addresses provided in the About the authors section.

Todos los documentos de trabajo están disponibles, de forma gratuita y en formato PDF, en la web de la Fundación BBVA. Si desea una copia impresa, puede solicitarla a través de publicaciones@fbbva.es.

All working papers can be downloaded free of charge in pdf format from the BBVA Foundation website. Print copies can be ordered from publicaciones@fbbva.es.

La serie Documentos de Trabajo, así como información sobre otras publicaciones de la Fundación BBVA, pueden consultarse en: http://www.fbbva.es

The Working Papers series, as well as information on other BBVA Foundation publications, can be found at: http://www.fbbva.es

Identifying Human Capital Externalities: Theory with Applications

© Antonio Ciccone and Giovanni Peri, 2007 © de esta edición / *of this edition:* Fundación BBVA, 2007

EDITA / PUBLISHED BY Fundación BBVA, 2007 Plaza de San Nicolás, 4. 48005 Bilbao

DEPÓSITO LEGAL / LEGAL DEPOSIT NO.: M-54.844-2007 IMPRIME / PRINTED BY: RÓgar, S. A.

Impreso en España - Printed in Spain

La serie Documentos de Trabajo de la Fundación BBVA está elaborada con papel 100% reciclado, fabricado a partir de fibras celulósicas recuperadas (papel usado) y no de celulosa virgen, cumpliendo los estándares medioambientales exigidos por la legislación vigente.

The Working Papers series of the BBVA Foundation is produced with 100% recycled paper made from recovered cellulose fibre (used paper) rather than virgin cellulose, in conformity with the environmental standards required by current legislation.

El proceso de producción de este papel se ha realizado conforme a las normas y disposiciones medioambientales europeas y ha merecido los distintivos Nordic Swan y Ángel Azul.

The paper production process complies with European environmental laws and regulations, and has both Nordic Swan and Blue Angel accreditation.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	5
2.	The Case of Two Skill Types	11
	2.1. Quantifying the bias of the Mincerian approach	14
	2.2. Calibrating the bias as of the Mincerian approach	14
	2.3. Simulating the bias of the Mincerian approach	16
3.	The Human Capital Framework with Externalities	21
	3.1. Substitutability and returns to human capital	23
	3.2. Identifying human capital externalities	24
	3.3. Identifying biased human capital externalities	27
4.	Estimation	30
	4.1. The constant-composition approach	30
	4.2. The Mincerian approach	31
5.	Data and Instruments	32
6.	Results	35
	6.1. The constant-composition approach	35
	6.2. The Mincerian approach	37
7.	Conclusions	39
Ap	opendices	41
	1: Tables and Figures	43
	2: Data and Some Statistics	52
	3: The Constant-Composition Approach to Human Capital Externalities	
	at the Country Level	54
	4: Effects of Labor Supply on Relative Wages	56
	5: Second-Order Effects of the Constant-Composition Approach	57

	6: Identifying Human Capital Externalities in the Katz and Murphy	
	Framework	58
	7: Identifying Human Capital Externalities When the Whole Distribution	
	of Human Capital Matters for Productivity and Wages	60
Re	ferences	62
Ab	out the Authors	65

1. Introduction

 ${f D}$ EPENDING on their strength, aggregate human capital externalities can help explain cross-country differences in economic development, the lack of capital flows to poor countries, the effects of agglomeration on economic growth, and other macroeconomic phenomena (e.g., Lucas, 1988, 1990; Azariadis and Drazen, 1990; Benabou, 1996; Black and Henderson, 1999). Human capital externalities also determine to what extent human capital accumulation should be subsidized (e.g., Gemmell, 1997; Heckman and Klenow, 1998; Heckman, 2000). Assessing the strength of human capital externalities is therefore important for applied economic theory as well as economic policy, and empirical research has responded with a variety of different approaches and estimates (e.g., Rauch, 1993; Rudd, 2000; Acemoglu and Angrist, 2001; Conley, Flier and Tsang, 2003; Moretti, 2004a, 2004b); (see Moretti, 2004c, for a survey). Existing work using wages achieves identification by assuming that all effects of the supply of human capital on individual wages are due to externalities. The strength of externalities can therefore be obtained as the effect of the aggregate supply of human capital on individual wages in an otherwise standard Mincerian wage regression (e.g., Rauch, 1993; Rudd, 2000; Acemoglu and Angrist, 2001; Conley, Flier and Tsiang, 2003; Moretti, 2004a). This is what we refer to as the Mincerian approach to the identification of aggregate human capital externalities.

In principle, wages may respond to the aggregate supply of human capital because of externalities or because of a downward sloping demand curve for human capital. For example, Fallon and Layard, 1975; Katz and Murphy, 1992; Angrist, 1995; Johnson, 1997; Topel, 1997; Autor, Katz and Krueger, 1998; Card and Lemieux, 2001; Borjas, 2003, show that changes in the education wage premium can be partly explained by supply driven movements along a downward sloping relative demand curve for more educated workers. We therefore analyze the identification of externalities in a framework where the demand for human capital falls as its cost rises. Following the empirical literature, the slope of the demand curve is linked to the substitutability between different levels of human capital in production. In this framework it can be shown that the Mincerian approach to the identification of human capital externalities yields positive externalities even when wages equal marginal social products. Using estimates of the elasticity of substitution between more and less educated workers in the empirical literature, we find an upward bias of the Mincerian approach of between 60 and 70 percent of the individual return to schooling in a first-order approximation and somewhat larger in simulations.

We propose an alternative approach to the identification of human capital externalities. The theoretical basis is that, under general conditions, the strength of human capital externalities equals the average earningsweighted effect of human capital on wages, which in turn equals the effect of human capital on the average wage when holding the labor-force skillcomposition constant. This result is easiest to explain in the case with two production factors only, S more educated workers and U=1-S less educated workers (total employment will be held constant and is normalized to unity). If more educated workers have a positive externality of strength EXT on output *Y*, their marginal social product $\partial Y / \partial S$ exceeds the difference between the wage of a more and a less educated worker $w_s - w_u$ by EXT, $\partial Y / dY$ $\partial S = EXT + (w_s - w_u)$. Our approach to identification can now be readily derived from the equality between output and labor income, $Y = w_{U}(1 - S) +$ $w_s S$ for all S. Differentiating both sides with respect to the supply of more educated workers implies $\partial Y / \partial S = (w_s - w_u) + (1 - S) (\partial w_u / \partial S) + S (\partial w_s / \partial S)$ ∂S) where $\partial w_i / \partial S$ denotes first-order effects of supply on wages. Combining this last expression for the marginal social product of more educated workers with $\partial Y / \partial S = EXT + (w_s - w_u)$ yields the externality in function of the response of wages to the supply of more educated workers: $EXT = (1 - S) (\partial w_{\mu})$ ∂S) + S ($w_s / \partial S$). Dividing both sides by Y so that externalities are measured in percentage points of output and using β to denote the share of more educated workers in earnings $\beta = Sw_s / Y$, results in our key equation:

$$\frac{EXT}{Y} = [1 - \beta] \frac{\partial w_{U} / \partial S}{w_{U}} + [\beta] \frac{\partial w_{s} / \partial S}{w_{s}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial S} \ln ([1 - \bar{S}] w_{U} + [\bar{S}] w_{s}), (1.1)$$

where upper bars denote values that are held constant. Externalities can therefore be identified as the earnings-weighted average percentage-change in wages (the first equality). Or, alternatively, they can be identified as the log-change in the average wage holding skill-composition constant (the second equality). This is what we refer to as the *constant-composition* approach to the identification of aggregate human capital externalities. We show that this approach is easily modified to account for higher-order effects of the supply of human capital on wages. The approach to identification emerging from this theoretical argument can be used to estimate externalities at the city, region, or country level over any time period in two steps. The first step requires obtaining wages w_x and labor-force shares l_x by skill type x in each city, region, or country at the beginning and the end of the relevant time period to calculate the log-change in the average wage holding skill-composition constant, $\ln (\Sigma \bar{l}_x \tilde{u}_x) - \ln (\Sigma \bar{l}_x \bar{u}_x)$ where upper bars denote beginning-of-period values and tildes end-of-period values. The second step consists of regressing the log-change in constant-composition average wages on (exogenous) changes in the supply of human capital enters positively and significantly, this indicates positive externalities. Higher-order effects of human-capital supply on wages can be dealt with by either including higher-order changes in supply among the regressors or by using an average of the beginning-of-period and end-of-period skill-composition to calculate the constant-composition to calculate the constant-composition for the effects of human-capital supply among the regressors or by using an average of the beginning-of-period and end-of-period skill-composition to calculate the constant-composition log-wage change.

We show that ultimately the Mincerian approach identifies human capital externalities as the employment-weighted average percentagechange in wages in response to a greater supply of human capital, [1 - S] $(\partial w_v / \partial S) / w_v + [S] (\partial w_s / \partial S) / w_s$ in the example above. When the relative demand curve for more educated workers is downward sloping, this approach yields positive externalities even when wages equal marginal social products. To see this note that (1.1) implies that earnings-weighted wage changes must average to zero when wages equal marginal social products $(EXT = 0): 0 = EXT = [1 - \beta] (\partial w_u / \partial S) / w_u + [\beta] (\partial w_s / \partial S) / w_s$. The slope of the relative demand curve for more educated workers is key in how wage changes average out. When the relative demand curve is flat, wages do not change in response to relative supply $(\partial w_i / \partial S = 0)$, and wage changes therefore average to zero trivially. But when the relative demand curve for more educated workers is downward sloping, earnings-weighted wage changes average to zero because the strictly positive effect of a greater relative supply of more educated workers on wages of less educated workers $(\partial w_u / \partial S) / w_u > 0$ is offset by the strictly negative effect on wages of more educated workers $(\partial w_s / \partial S) / w_s < 0$. Weighting these wage changes by employment, as in the Mincerian approach, instead of earnings amounts to putting more weight on the rising wage of less educated workers and less weight on the falling wage of more educated workers because less educated workers earn a lower wage than more educated workers. As a result, the Mincerian approach yields positive externalities when there are none¹.

^{1.} The next section shows how to modify the Mincerian approach to ensure weighting by earnings.

Another advantage of the constant-composition approach to human capital externalities compared to the Mincerian approach is that it does not require estimating individual returns to human capital. The constant-composition approach can therefore be used even when instruments for individual schooling are unavailable. The Mincerian approach is implemented by estimating a Mincerian wage regression and therefore requires instruments for aggregate schooling as well as individual schooling (Acemoglu and Angrist, 2001).

Our discussion of the identification of human capital externalities when production requires many different, imperfectly substitutable levels of human capital is based on the aggregate human capital framework². We show that this framework yields a parsimonious way of capturing imperfect substitutability. An additional advantage is that it encompasses the Mincerian approach to externalities. The defining feature of the aggregate human capital framework is that the distribution of human capital affects wages only through average human capital. The approach to identification emerging from the human capital framework carries over with minimal variations to any framework where the distribution of skill types affects wages only through a single measure of supply (like, for example, the framework of Katz and Murphy, 1992: 67-69) ³. Assuming that the supply of human capital can be summarized in a single measure is inevitable in empirical applications because of the difficulties in finding instruments for multiple measures of (endogenous) supply⁴. Using a theoretical framework where the use of a single supply measure is justified is therefore practical. It is not necessary for the theoretical validity of the constant-composition approach however, which we show can be used to identify human capital externalities even when the whole human capital distribution matters for wages.

Our main theoretical result in the aggregate human capital framework is that the elasticity of the average wage holding skill-composition constant with respect to average human capital is equal to the strength of average human capital externalities. This result holds whether or not the demand curve for human capital slopes downward. We also analyze second-

4. Existing empirical studies use either average years of schooling of the share of workers with schooling above a certain level as a summary measure of the aggregate supply of human capital.

^{2.} E.g., Lucas, 1988; Mankiw, Romer and Weil, 1992; Benhabib and Spiegel, 1994; Klenow and Rodríguez-Clare, 1997; Topel, 1999; Bils and Klenow, 2001; Krueger and Lindahl, 2001.

^{3.} We show this in appendix 6 the framework of Katz and Murphy does not encompass the Mincerian approach to human capital externalities however, which makes comparisons between the constant-composition and the Mincerian approach less straightforward than in the human capital framework.

order effects of average human capital on average wages holding skill-composition constant and prove that these are positive. Moreover, we show that the constant-composition approach can be used to identify human capital externalities even when externalities are biased towards workers with high or low levels of human capital.

As an application of the constant-composition approach, we assess the strength of average-schooling externalities in US cities and US states between 1970 and 1990 using instrumental-variable estimation methods to account for endogenous average schooling. Our results yield no evidence of statistically significant average-schooling externalities. Constant-composition point estimates of the external return to a one-year increase in average schooling are around zero at the city level and not much higher at the state level. Using the Mincerian approach to estimate average-schooling externalities over the same period yields a statistically significant external return around 8 percent at the city level and around 10 percent at the state level. Hence, Mincerian estimates of external returns to schooling are of a similar magnitude to private returns to schooling (e.g., Card, 1999) while constant-composition estimates are relatively small and statistically insignificant. We show using calibration and simulations that this difference in results between the Mincerian and the constant-composition approach is consistent with the degree of imperfect substitutability between more and less educated workers found in the literature (e.g., Johnson, 1997; Fallon and Layard, 1975; Katz and Murphy, 1992; Ciccone and Peri, forthcoming).

The variables used as instruments for city level changes in average schooling between 1970 and 1990 are the demographic structure of the labor-force and population as well as the population share of African-Americans in 1970. These variables have predictive power for the change in average schooling at the city level, because younger individuals entering the labor-force during this time period had higher levels of schooling than workers going into retirement and because African-Americans were catching up in schooling with the rest of the population. Our identifying hypothesis is that the variables used as instruments affect wage growth of white workers between 1970 and 1990 at the city level only through the supply of human capital. We check this hypothesis by testing the implied overidentifying restrictions and find it cannot be rejected at standard significance levels. Our instruments for changes in average schooling at the state level are either the compulsory-schooling and child-labor law indicators of Acemoglu and Angrist (2001) or the same instruments used at the city level (the two sets of instruments yield basically identical estimates).

The Mincerian approach to human capital externalities was introduced by Rauch (1993) to estimate average-schooling externalities in a cross-section of US cities in 1980. Acemoglu and Angrist (1999, 2001) extend the approach to a panel of US states and account for state fixed effects as well as for the endogeneity of average and individual schooling. Their approach yields no evidence of significant schooling externalities between 1960 and 1980 (the period they focus on). Acemoglu and Angrist are also the first to show that human capital externalities as identified by the Mincerian approach subsume imperfect substitutability between skills (in appendix 2 of Acemoglu and Angrist, 1999). Another application of the Mincerian approach to human capital externalities at the US state level is Rud (2000). Conley, Flier and Tsiang (2003) employ the Mincerian approach to estimate human capital externalities in Malaysian regions. Moretti (2004a) employs the Mincerian approach to estimate externalities associated with increases in the share of college graduates in US cities between 1980 and 1990. Moretti also proposes an alternative to the Mincerian approach, which consists of testing whether a greater share of college graduates in cities leads to an increase in their wages. He finds evidence that this was the case between 1980 and 1990.

The remainder of the paper is organized in the following way. Section 2 compares the constant-composition and Mincerian approach to the identification of human capital externalities in the simplest possible case. Section 3 derives the constant-composition approach in the aggregate human capital framework. Section 4 presents the estimating equations and explains the estimation methods. Section 5 describes the data. Section 6 discusses our empirical results and section 7 summarizes.

2. The Case of Two Skill Types

BEFORE turning to the framework with many different levels of human capital it is useful to elaborate on the differences between the constant-composition and Mincerian approach in the simplest possible case. We therefore return to the case with two production factors only, a number of more educated workers *S* and a number of less educated workers U = 1 - S, and also assume that production is subject to constant returns to scale. In this setting, a competitive equilibrium can be characterized by the following two conditions. First, that the cost-minimizing demand of firms for more relative to less educated workers equals the relative supply of the two types of workers. Second, that full-employment output is equal to aggregate income $[1 - S] w_u + [S] w_s$.

In this framework, the relative supply of more educated workers may affect wages because of externalities or because of a downward sloping relative demand curve for more educated workers (we will refer to wage changes due to downward sloping demand as *neoclassical supply effects*). If each one-point increase in the share of more educated workers has an external effect *EXT* = θY on output, (1.1) implies that the strength of the externality θ satisfies

$$\theta = [1 - \beta] \frac{\partial w_{U} / \partial S}{w_{U}} + [\beta] \frac{\partial w_{s} / \partial S}{w_{s}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial S} \ln ([1 - \bar{S}] w_{U} + [\bar{S}] w_{s}), (2.1)$$

where β continues to denote the share of more educated workers in earnings and upper bars continue to denote values that are held constant. Hence, the strength of externalities can be identified either as the earnings weighted percentage-change in wages due to an increase in the supply of more educated workers or as the effect of an increase in the supply of more educated workers on the constant-composition log-wage.

A useful alternative perspective on the constant-composition approach can be obtained by subtracting the strength of the human capital externality θ from both sides of the first equality in (2.1). This yields

$$0 = [1 - \beta] \left(\frac{\partial w_v / \partial S}{w_v} - \theta \right) + [\beta] \left(\frac{\partial w_s / \partial S}{w_s} - \theta \right) = [1 - \beta] \underbrace{NCSP_v}_{[+]} + [\beta] \underbrace{NCSP_s}_{[-]}, (2.2)$$

where *NCSP* denotes neoclassical supply effects and [+] and [-] denote whether the effect is positive or negative. $NCSP_{\upsilon} = (\partial w_{\upsilon} / \partial S) / w_{\upsilon} \theta \ge 0$ is the increase in the wage of less educated workers net of externalities and $NCSP_s$ = $(\partial w_s / \partial S) / w_s \theta \le 0$ the decrease in the wage of more educated workers net of externalities. Hence, the constant-composition approach exploits that neoclassical supply effects offset each other when weighted by earnings.

The Mincerian approach to human capital externalities obtains the strength of externalities θ^{u} as the marginal effect of human capital on the intercept of a Mincerian wage regression (e.g., Rauch, 1993). With two types of labor only, the Mincerian approach is based on the following model for individual log-wages: $\ln w_i = \theta^{u} S + a + bD_i$ where w_i is the wage of worker i and D_i is 1 if the worker is of the high-education type and 0 otherwise ($\theta^{u} S + a$ is the log-wage of less educated workers and b the education log-wage premium). Summing across individuals yields $[1 - S] \ln w_v + [S] \ln w_s \theta^{u} S + a + bS$ for all S and hence

$$\theta^{w} = \frac{\partial}{\partial S} \left([1 - S] \ln w_{u} + [S] \ln w_{s} \right) - b.$$
(2.3)

The Mincerian approach therefore identifies human capital externalities as the wedge between the marginal effect of the supply of more educated workers on the average log-wage (the first term) and the individual logwage premium *b* (Acemoglu and Angrist, 1999). Differentiating the first term on the right-hand-side of (2.3) and making use of $b = \ln w_s - \ln w_u$ yields

$$\boldsymbol{\theta}^{\scriptscriptstyle M} = [1 - S] \frac{\partial w_{\scriptscriptstyle U} / \partial S}{w_{\scriptscriptstyle U}} + [S] \frac{\partial w_{\scriptscriptstyle S} / \partial S}{w_{\scriptscriptstyle S}} = \boldsymbol{\theta} + \left([1 - S] NCSP_{\scriptscriptstyle U} + [S] NCSP_{\scriptscriptstyle S} \right), (2.4)$$

which can be easily compared to the constant-composition approach in (2.1). (*NCSP_i* = $(\partial w_i / \partial S) / w_i - \theta$ continues to denote neoclassical supply effects.) The first equality makes clear that the constant-composition and the Mincerian approach ultimately differ only in the weights applied to wage changes. The second equality shows that, unsurprisingly, both approaches yield a consistent estimate of the strength of externalities when there are no neoclassical supply effects, *NCSP_i* = 0. But in the presence of neoclassical supply effects, θ^{w} is strictly greater than the externality θ , $\theta^{w} - \theta = [1 - S]$ *NCSP^u* + [*S*]*NCSP^s*> 0. Hence, the Mincerian approach overstates human capital externalities. To see this notice that neoclassical supply effects on wages of less and more educated workers offset when weighted by *earnings* shares (see [2.2]) and that the employment share of less educated workers exceeds their earning share (because they earn a lower wage than more educated workers). The positive neoclassical supply effect on wages of less educated workers therefore more than offsets the negative effect on wages of more educated workers when weighted by *employment* shares ⁵. The Mincerian approach therefore confounds positive externalities with neoclassical supply effects (wage changes due to a downward sloping demand curve for more relative to less educated workers).

There is another advantage of the constant-composition approach to human capital externalities compared to the Mincerian approach. The Mincerian approach is implemented by estimating a Mincerian wage regression and therefore requires instruments for aggregate and individual schooling (Acemoglu and Angrist, 2001). The constant-composition approach is implemented by regressing log-changes in the average wage holding composition constant over the relevant period, $\ln ([1 - \bar{S}] \tilde{u}_{l} + [\bar{S}] \tilde{u}_{l}) - \ln ([1 - \bar{S}]$ $\bar{w}_{l} + [\bar{S}] \bar{w}_{s})$ where upper bars denote beginning-of-period values and tildes end-of-period values, on changes in schooling $\tilde{S} - \bar{S}$. This only requires instruments for aggregate schooling, and the constant-composition approach can therefore be implemented even when instruments for individual schooling are unavailable.

It is straightforward to extend the constant-composition approach to account for higher-order effects of the supply of more educated workers on wages. The simplest way is to include higher-order changes in the supply of more educated worker as regressors in the empirical analysis. An alternative is to use the constant-composition approach to put upper and lower bounds on the strength of externalities. The only additional assumption required is that production is subject to constant or decreasing returns to more educated workers net of externalities. In this case it can be shown that the following inequalities hold: $\Delta \ln ([1 - \bar{S}] w_{\nu} + [\bar{S}] w_s) / \Delta S \ge \theta \ge \Delta \ln ([1 - \bar{S}] w_{\nu} + \theta \le \theta \le 0)$

^{5.} The Mincerian approach can be modified to yield a consistent estimate of the strength of aggregate human capital externalities. The modification consists of weighting individual observations by earnings. To see this note that multiplying both sides of the individual log-wage equation by wages yields $w_i \ln w_i = w_i \theta^4 S + w_i a + w_i b D_i$. Summing across individuals and dividing by total earnings $Uw_v + Sw_s$ implies $(1 - \beta) \ln w_v + \beta \ln w_s = \theta^4 S + a + \beta b$ for all *S*, where β continues to denote the earnings share of more educated workers. Differentiating with respect to the share of more educated workers Syields $\theta^4 = (1 - \beta) (\partial w_v / \partial S) / w_v + \beta (\partial w_s / \partial S) / w_s + \partial \beta / \partial S ((\ln w_s - \ln w_v) - b)$. Simplifying using $b = \ln w_s - \ln w_v$ implies $\theta^4 = (1 - \beta) (\partial w_v / \partial S) / w_v + \beta (\partial w_s / \partial S) / w_s + \beta (\partial w_s / \partial S) / w_s$, which is the expression for the constant-composition approach (see [2.1]). The constant-composition approach and the earnings-weighted Mincerian approach are therefore equivalent.

 $[\tilde{S}] w_s$ / ΔS where Δ denotes the difference between end-of-period values and beginning-of-period values ⁶. Hence, the constant-composition approach yields a lower bound on externalities when the skill-composition used corresponds to the end of the period and an upper bound when the beginning-of-period skill-composition is used instead. Or, to put it differently, the constant-composition approach yields the exact strength of externalities when the skill-composition used is an appropriately weighted average of beginning-of-period and end-of-period values:

$$\theta = \frac{\Delta \ln ([1 - S^*] w_v + [S^*] w_s)}{\Delta S} , \qquad (2.5)$$

for $\overline{S} \leq S^* \leq \overline{S}$. Hence, a third way to handle higher-order effects of the supply of more educated workers on wages is to employ an average of the beginning-of-period and end-of-period skill-composition to calculate the constant-composition log-wage change.

2.1. Quantifying the bias of the Mincerian approach

The bias of the Mincerian approach to human capital externalities depends on the slope of the demand curve for more relative to less educated workers. There are several estimates of this slope in the literature and we now consider a framework that allows us to draw on these estimates to quantify the bias of the Mincerian approach.

2.2. Calibrating the bias of the Mincerian approach

Suppose there are no externalities and that firms produce output Y using a constant-elasticity-of-substitution production function,

^{6.} The (standard) model of production with externalities underlying our analysis is Y = AF(U, S) where (total factor productivity) A captures the externality and is taken as given by firms when they maximize profits by choosing less educated workers U and more educated workers S. Assuming that production is concave in more educated workers net of externalities is equivalent to assuming that the marginal product of more educated workers is decreasing in their number holding total factor productivity constant, $\partial^2 F(U, S) / \partial S \partial S \leq 0$. This assumption combined with perfect competition implies $\ln ([1 - \bar{S}] \ \tilde{w}_v + [\bar{S}] \ \tilde{w}_s) \geq \ln (([1 - \bar{S}] \ \tilde{w}_v + [\bar{S}] \ \tilde{w}_s) + \theta \ (\Delta S)$ and $\ln ([1 - \bar{S}] \ \tilde{w}_v + [\bar{S}] \ \tilde{w}_s) - \theta \ (\Delta S)$. Combining these inequalities yields $\Delta \ln ([1 - \bar{S}] \ w_v + [\bar{S}] \ w_s) / \Delta S \geq \theta \geq \Delta \ln ([1 - \bar{S}] \ w_v + [\bar{S}] \ w_s) / \Delta S$.

$$Y = \left(U^{\frac{\sigma-1}{\sigma}} + (BS)^{\frac{\sigma-1}{\sigma}}\right)^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma-1}},$$
(2.6)

where *U*, *S* continue to denote the number of less and more educated workers, *B* captures skill-biased technology, and σ denotes the elasticity of substitution between more and less educated workers. In this case, the bias of the Mincerian approach to human capital externalities is

Bias of Mincerian approach =
$$\frac{1}{\sigma} \left(\frac{w_s - w_v}{w} \right)$$
. (2.7)

Hence, for a given education wage premium the bias is decreasing in the elasticity of substitution between more and less educated workers. This is intuitive because higher values of σ imply a flatter relative demand curve for more educated workers and therefore a weaker response of wages to supply-driven movements along the demand curve.

What is the size of the bias of the Mincerian approach for reasonable values for the elasticity of substitution between more and less educated workers and for reasonable values for the education wage premium? When we take more educated workers to be people with two or more years of college and less educated workers to be everybody else, the education premium $(w_{H} - w_{I}) / w$ averages to 40 percent in 1970 and 1990 for white males 40-49 (US Bureau of Census, 1970, 1990). (By focusing on white males 40-49 we sidestep the estimation of wage differentials associated with gender, race, and experience.) Almost all available estimates of the elasticity of substitution between college and high-school workers in the US point to values around 1.5 (e.g., Katz and Murphy, 1992; Ciccone and Peri, forthcoming). Combined, these numbers imply that imperfect substitutability may add 27 percent (0.4/1.5) to the Mincerian estimate of the external return to more educated workers. To facilitate the interpretation of this estimate, we make use of the fact that average schooling of white males 40-49 with two or more years of college exceeded average schooling of white males with less than two years of college in the same age group by 4.2 years in 1970 and 1990. Hence, an increase in the share of more educated workers by 24 percent (1/4.2) amounts to a one-year increase in average schooling. Imperfect substitutability may therefore add around 6.5 percent (0.27*0.24) to the Mincerian estimate of the external return of a one-year increase in average schooling.

2.3. Simulating the bias of the Mincerian approach

The 6.5 percent estimate of the bias of the Mincerian approach to human capital externalities is based on small changes in the relative supply of more educated workers. This may not reflect the bias in actual applications. To get an alternative estimate of the bias we therefore apply the Mincerian approach to city-level wage data that is generated by combining the constant-elasticity-of-substitution production function above with several features of the distribution of wages and human capital across US cities in 1970 and 1990.

The model underlying our simulations is built on the production function in (2.6). We continue to assume that there are no externalities and that the elasticity of substitution between more and less educated workers is $\sigma = 1.5$. Assuming competitive labor markets implies that the wage of both types of workers is equal to their marginal productivity

$$w_{u, ct} = \left(1 + \left(\frac{B_{ct} S_{ct}}{1 - S_{ct}}\right)^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma} - 1}\right)^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma} - 1}$$
(2.8)

and

$$w_{s,ct} = B_{ct} \left(1 + \left(\frac{1 - S_{ct}}{B_{ct} S_{ct}} \right)^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma}} \right)^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma} - 1}, \tag{2.9}$$

where *c*, *t* are subscripts for city and year respectively.

Our simulations assume 163 cities, because this is the number of cities in our empirical application. The initial shares of more educated workers are chosen to match the share of workers with two or more years of college in each city in the 1970 US Census, which will be denoted by S_{c1970} (section 5 contains a description of the Census data used). The initial levels of skillbiased technology, which will be denoted by B_{c1970} , are chosen to match the level of skill-biased technology implicit in the data assuming that (2.8) and (2.9) hold. More precisely (2.8) and (2.9) imply that B_{c1970} is linked to relative wages and relative supplies of more educated workers by

$$\ln B_{c1970} = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \ln \left(\frac{w_{s, c1970}}{w_{\upsilon, c1970}} \right) + \frac{1}{\sigma - 1} \left(\frac{S_{c1970}}{1 - S_{c1970}} \right).$$
(2.10)

We will measure $w_{s, c1970}$ ($w_{v, c1970}$) as the average wage of white male workers aged 40-49 with 2 or more years of college (less than 2 years of college) in city *c* in 1970. Starting from this calibration of the initial values for the relative supply of more educated workers and levels of skill-biased technology for each city we generate 163 city-specific human capital shocks, ΔS_c , and skill-biased technology shocks, ΔB_c . These shocks are drawn from identical and independent normal distributions. The standard deviation is chosen to match the standard deviation of $S_{c1990} - S_{c1970}$ (S_{c1990} is obtained analogously to S_{c1970}) and the mean is set to zero. The mean and standard deviation of the distribution for the skill-biased technology shock are chosen to match the mean and standard deviation of $B_{c1990} - B_{c1970}$ (where B_{c1990} is obtained analogously to B_{c1970}).

We take a total of 5,000 draws from the distribution for the shocks to human capital and skill-biased technology (a draw consists of 163 human capital shocks and 163 skill-biased technology shocks). Starting from the calibrated values for S_{c1970} and B_{c1970} , each draw results in 163 values for S_{c1990} and B_{c1990} , which substituted in (2.8) and (2.9) yield 163 values for $w_{s, c1990}$ and $w_{u, c1990}$. Combining this data on wages with relative supplies of more and less educated workers allows us to calculate the city-specific intercept of a Mincerian wage regression $\ln \alpha_{c1990}$ for each draw as

$$\ln \alpha_{c1990} = \left(S_{c1990} \ln (w_{s, c1990}) + (1 + S_{c1990}) \ln (w_{u, c1990}) \right),$$

$$- S_{ct} \left(\overline{\ln w_{s, c1990}} - \ln w_{u, c1990} \right),$$
(2.11)

where the double upper bar denotes the average across cities. Repeating this calculation using the 1970 values yields $\ln \alpha_{c1970}$. The Mincerian approach identifies the strength of aggregate human capital externalities as the effect of aggregate human capital on the intercept of a Mincerian wage regression. Hence, the estimating equation for the strength of human capital externalities using the Mincerian approach θ^{w} is

$$\ln \alpha_{c1990} - \ln \alpha_{c1970} = \text{constant} + \theta^{\scriptscriptstyle M} \Delta S_c. \tag{2.12}$$

Estimating this equation using least squares yields a point estimate $\hat{\theta}_d^{M}$ and a standard error $\hat{\rho}_d^{M}$, where *d* denotes a specific draw for the 163 city-specific human capital shocks and skill-biased technology shocks, for each of the 5,000 draws.

The constant-composition estimate of the strength of the human capital externality is obtained in the following way. For each of the 5,000 draws for city-specific human capital shocks and skill-biased technology shocks we calculate the log average wage in 1990 using the 1970 labor-force composition,

$$\ln w_{c1990}^{r} = \ln \left(S_{c1970} w_{s, c1990} + (1 - S_{c1970}) w_{u, c1990} \right)$$
(2.13)

and then estimate the equation

$$\ln w_{c1990}^{F} - \ln w_{c1970} = \text{constant} + \theta^{cc} \Delta S_{c}, \qquad (2.14)$$

using least squares. This yields a point estimate $\hat{\theta}_d^{cc}$ and a standard error $\hat{\rho}_d^{cc}$ for each of the 5,000 draws.

Table A.1.1 summarizes the results of our simulations. Panel A contains the answer to the following question. Suppose we use the point estimate $\hat{\theta}_d^{\scriptscriptstyle M}$ and standard error $\hat{\rho}_{d}^{M}$ obtained with the Mincerian approach to test the hypothesis that the strength of human capital externalities is equal to zero against the alternative of positive externalities at some standard significance level (assuming asymptotic normality of the estimator). What fraction of the 5,000 draws would result in rejection of the null hypothesis? The entries in the lower right-hand cell of the table for example indicate that we would reject the hypothesis of no human capital externalities for 52 percent (75 percent) of the draws when tests are performed at the 5 percent (10 percent) significance level. Results in this particular cell are based on simulations assuming a standard deviation of the human capital shock (*StdDev*(ΔS)) equal to 0.04 and a standard deviation of the skill-biased technology shock (Std- $Dev(\Delta A)$) equal to 0.08, which are the values implied by the calibration described above. Hence, the hypothesis of no human capital externalities is rejected far too frequently given the nominal size of the test and the fact that there are no human capital externalities in the model underlying the simulations. Other cells in the table contain analogous results for different values of *StdDev*(ΔS) and *StdDev*(ΔA). It can be seen that a reduction of *StdDev*(ΔA) implies that the hypothesis of no externalities is rejected even more frequently and that the frequency of rejection reaches 100 percent when Std- $Dev(\Delta A)$ is equal to 0.

Panel B of table A.1.1 answers exactly the same question for the constant-composition-approach simulation results. That is, suppose we use the point estimate $\hat{\theta}_d^{cc}$ and standard error $\hat{\rho}_d^{cc}$ obtained with the constant-composition approach to test the hypothesis that the strength of human capital externalities is equal to zero at some standard significance level (assuming asymptotic normality of the estimator). What is the frequency of rejection? The entries in the lower right hand corner of the table indicate that we would reject the hypothesis of no human capital externalities in 1.1 percent (4.8 percent) of the draws when tests are performed at the 5 percent (10 percent) significance level. Hence, compared to the Mincerian approach, the hypothesis of no human capital externalities is rejected far less frequently (rejection frequencies using the Mincerian approach were 47 times greater in the case of the 5 percent test and 16 times greater in the case of the 10 percent test). This is desirable as the underlying simulations assume that there are no human capital externalities. The results in Panel A and B are virtually unchanged when we increase the number of draws from 5,000 to 10,000.

Table A.1.2 contains the average estimates of the strength of human capital externalities in our simulations using the Mincerian as well as constant-composition approach. The values in the table should be read as the simulated bias of the two different approaches as the model underlying the simulations assumes that there is no human capital externality. Panel A contains the bias of the Mincerian approach to human capital externalities. The range of values is between 0.33 and 0.35, depending on the standard deviation of the human capital shock and the skill-biased technology shock. Hence, according to our simulations the Mincerian estimate of human capital externalities is biased upward. The size of the bias is somewhat greater than suggested by the calibrations based on first-order effects in the previous section (which were between 0.24 and 0.29). To facilitate the interpretation of the range of estimated values, we again make use of average schooling of white males aged 40-49 with two or more years of college exceeding average schooling of those with less than two years of college by 4.2 years in 1970 and 1990. Hence, an increase in the share of more educated workers by 24 percent amounts to a one-year increase in average schooling. The range of estimates obtained using the Mincerian approach therefore implies an upward bias of average-schooling-externality estimates between 8 and 8.4 percent. The numbers in square brackets below the estimate are the fraction of simulations yielding positive Mincerian estimates of the strength of human capital externalities.

Panel B in table A.1.2 contains the simulated average bias of the constant-composition approach to human capital externalities. It can be seen that the bias is rather small (between –0.003 and –0.018). Using the same approach as in the Mincerian case to facilitate the interpretation of these values (that an increase in the share of more educated workers by 24 percent amounts to a one-year increase in average schooling), the constantcomposition estimates imply a bias of average-schooling-externality estimates between –0.07 percent and –0.4 percent. Hence, the bias is very small relative to the Mincerian bias (the absolute value of the Mincerian bias is between 11 and 24 times greater) and it does not imply any economically significant human capital externality. The numbers in square brackets below the estimates are the fraction of simulations yielding positive constant-composition estimates of the strength of human capital externalities.

Summarizing, our simulations matching city-level data on wages and human capital most closely yield a Mincerian estimate of the city-level external return to a one-year increase in average schooling of around 8 percent, which is somewhat greater than the first-order bias. The constant-composition estimate of the external effect closely reflects the absence of a human capital externality in the model underlying our simulations. The simulations have also shown that an econometrician using the Mincerian approach to human capital externalities would reject the null hypothesis of no human capital externalities far too often in favor of positive externalities.

3. The Human Capital Framework with Externalities

WE now turn to the identification of human capital externalities in the aggregate human capital framework. A key feature of this framework is that the supply of different levels of human capital affects individual wages only through average human capital. Another important feature is that the framework captures imperfect substitutability among workers with many different levels of human capital in a parsimonious way ⁷.

Suppose that output Y of cities (or other spatial units) depends on the aggregate amount of labor L and human capital H employed according to the following production function

$$Y = AF(L, H), \tag{3.1}$$

where A denotes the level of total factor productivity (TFP) in the city and

$$H \equiv \sum_{x} x L(x), \tag{3.2}$$

where L(x) is the number of workers with human capital x in the city (using this notation the aggregate amount of labor in the city is $L \equiv \sum_{x} L(x)$). Assume also that the aggregate production function is twice continuously differentiable and subject to constant returns to scale to labor L(x) for all x (or, alternatively, subject to constant returns to scale to L, H) as well as constant or decreasing returns to human capital, F_{22} (L, H) ≤ 0 .

Firms in each city produce according to (3.1) and maximize profits taking the city specific levels of TFP as given. Suppose also that product and

^{7.} In appendix 7 we show that the constant-composition approach can be used to identify externalities even if the whole distribution of human capital matters for individual wages, there are no restrictions on the pattern of substitutability among different types of workers, and externalities are driven by the whole distribution of worker types. However, data requirements necessary to implement the constant-composition approach are formidable in this case.

labor markets are perfectly competitive and that output is tradable. Under these assumptions the equilibrium product wage of workers with human capital *x* in a city with a supply of human capital relative to labor $h \equiv H/L$ can be written as

$$w(x, h) \equiv A\omega_{L}(h) + A\omega_{H}(h)x,$$

where

$$\omega_{L}(h) \equiv F_{1}(1, h) \text{ and } \omega_{H}(h) \equiv F_{2}(1, h).$$
 (3.3)

The wage of workers with human capital *x* is therefore the sum of two components: the price of labor, $A\omega_L \equiv w_L$ (multiplied by the one unit supplied) and the price of human capital, $A\omega_H \equiv w_H$ multiplied by the quantity of human capital supplied (*x*). A higher level of TFP translates into a higher price of labor and human capital. An increase in the relative supply of human capital *h* raises the price of labor but lowers the price of human capital in the case of strictly decreasing returns to human capital, F_{22} (*L*, *H*) < 0, and leaves them unchanged if F_{22} (*L*, *H*) = 0.

We will allow for the possibility that the marginal social product of workers with above-average (below-average) human capital is greater (smaller) than their equilibrium wage. This is accomplished by assuming that TFP in each city may be increasing in the average level of human capital h in the city

$$A = h^{\theta}, \tag{3.4}$$

where θ captures the strength of average human capital externalities. This setup yields A = 1 if $\theta = 0$, which combined with (3.3) allows us to interpret $\omega_{(x, h)} \equiv \omega_{L}(h) + \omega_{H}(h)x$ as the wage of workers with human capital x in the absence of externalities, and ω_{L} and ω_{H} as the price of labor and human capital in the absence of human capital externalities. While our discussion of the identification of aggregate human capital externalities focuses on non-pecuniary externalities, the same issues arise when externalities have a pecuniary origin as in Acemoglu (1996) for example.

Whether product wages of identical workers in different cities will be equalized or not depends on the motivations for inter-city migration. Identical workers in different cities will earn different product wages in equilibrium if cities differ in characteristics that are relevant for workers' utility. Examples of such characteristics are the cost of housing, the quality of local public schools, local tax rates, the degree of air pollution, the crime rate, climate, and recreational opportunities.

The model presented so far is the simplest framework that allows us to discuss identification of human capital externalities when workers with many different levels of human capital may be imperfect substitutes. It can be extended in several dimensions without affecting our theoretical results on identification or our empirical approach. The most basic extension would include physical capital and land as factors of production and distinguish between tradable and non-tradable goods. Allowing for physical capital as a production factor does not alter our approach at all when physical capital moves to equalize its rate of return across cities. The main implication of extending the theoretical analysis to allow for land as a production factor is that our approach identifies externalities net of congestion effects. The main insight of allowing for non-tradable goods is that only externalities in the tradable goods sector are identified. All these extensions are discussed in the appendix of Ciccone and Peri (2002). It may be worthwhile to point out that the model with land and physical capital has many similarities with the theoretical work of Roback (1982). The constant-composition approach can also be used to identify human capital externalities at the aggregate level when physical capital is not perfectly mobile across the geographic units of analysis (the relevant case for human capital externalities at the country level), see appendix 3.

3.1. Substitutability and returns to human capital

The framework described so far is flexible enough to allow workers with different levels of human capital to be perfect or imperfect substitutes in production. It is straightforward to show that assuming perfect substitutability is equivalent to assuming constant marginal returns to human capital given TFP, F_{22} (1, h) = 0, or to assuming that the production function in (3.1) simplifies to

$$Y = A \left(L + BH \right), \tag{3.5}$$

where *B* determines the marginal rate of substitution between labor and human capital. In this case, wages of workers with a given level of human capital and the return to human capital will be independent of the average level of human capital in the city for a given level of TFP. Hence, all effects of the average level of human capital on the equilibrium wage curve must arise through TFP and can be interpreted as externalities. Imperfect substitutability among different types of workers in production on the other hand is equivalent to decreasing marginal returns to human capital, F_{22} (1, h) < 0. To see this suppose that the supply of workers with low human capital x^l in a city decreases while the supply of workers with high human capital x^l ($x^h > x^l$) increases so as to keep the total number of workers constant. It can be shown that the implied change in the relative wage of low human capital workers $w(x^l) / w(x^h)$ is proportional to $-F_{22}$ (1, h) $(x^h - x^l)^2$ (this result is derived in appendix 4) ⁸. Hence, the decrease in the supply of low human capital workers and increase in the supply of high human capital workers will increase the relative wage of low human capital workers if and only if there are decreasing returns to human capital. Moreover, the implied increase in the relative wage is smaller the closer x^l to x^h . This is because the closer the levels of human capital of the two types of workers, the better they substitute for one another.

3.2. Identifying human capital externalities

The constant-composition approach is based on the theoretical result that the elasticity of average wages holding labor-force skill-composition weights constant with respect to average human capital is equal to the strength of average human capital externalities. To state and proof this result it is useful to note that the average wage w can be written as

$$w \equiv \sum_{x \in X} w(x, h) l(x) \equiv w(h, l(x) : x \in X),$$
(3.6)

where l(x) = L(x) / L. This notation emphasizes that the average wage depends on individual wages of workers with human capital *x* as well as labor-force skill-composition weights l(x) and that individual wages depend on average human capital in the city *h*.

Proposition 1. The elasticity of the average wage when labor-force skill-composition weights l(x) are held constant with respect to the average level of human capital yields the strength of average human capital externalities,

$$\frac{\partial \ln w \left(h, l(x) : x \in X\right)}{\partial h} h = \theta.$$
(3.7)

^{8.} If there are only two types of labor, the production function in (3.1) implies that the elasticity of substitution between the two types is inversely proportional to $-F_{22}$ (1, *h*) $(x^h - x')^p$.

Proof. To proof this result it is useful to write the average wage in the absence of human capital externalities $\sum_{x} \omega(x, h) l(x)$ as a function of the average level of human capital and the labor-force composition

$$\omega(h, l(x): x \in X) \equiv \sum_{x \in X} \omega(x, h) l(x).$$
(3.8)

Using this notation, $\ln w (h, l(x) : x \in X) = \ln \omega (h, l(x) : x \in X) + \ln A$, which implies that

$$\frac{\partial \ln w (h, l(x) : x \in X)}{\partial h} h = \frac{\partial \ln A}{\partial h} h + \frac{\partial \ln w (h, l(x) : x \in X)}{\partial h} h$$
$$= \theta + \frac{\partial \ln w (h, l(x) : x \in X)}{\partial h} h,$$

where we have made use of (3.4). Hence, (3.7) follows if the elasticity of the average wage with respect to average human capital holding skill-composition weights constant is equal to zero when there are no human capital externalities. To see that this is the case suppose that the shares of workers with different human capital go from $\{l(x) : x \in X\}$ with an average level of human capital $h = \sum_{x} xl(x)$ to $\{l^*(x) : x \in X\}$ with an average level of human capital $h^* = \sum_{x} xl^*(x)$ (by definition $\sum_{x} l^*(x) = \sum_{x} l(x) = 1$). In this case the change in the average wage holding labor-force skill-composition constant at $\{l(x) : x \in X\}$ is

$$\Delta \equiv \sum_{x \in X} \omega (x, h^*) l(x) - \sum_{x \in X} \omega (x, h) l(x).$$

To prove that $\partial \ln \omega$ (*h*, $l(x) : x \in X$) / $\partial h = 0$ we need to show that $\Delta / (h^* - h) \rightarrow 0$ as $h^* \rightarrow h$. Adding and subtracting $\Sigma_x \omega$ (*x*, h^*) $l^*(x)$ and rearranging terms yields

$$\Delta = \left(\sum_{x \in X} \omega (x, h^*) l^* (x) - \sum_{x \in X} \omega (x, h) l(x)\right)$$
$$- \left(\sum_{x \in X} \omega (x, h^*) l^* (x) - \sum_{x \in X} \omega (x, h^*) l(x)\right).$$

The first term in brackets is the change in the average wage that is implied by shares of workers with different human capital going from $\{l(x) : x \in X\}$ to $\{l^*(x) : x \in X\}$. Constant returns to scale and perfect competition imply that this term is equal to the change in average labor productivity $F(1, h^*) - F(1, h)$. Hence,

$$\Delta = \left(F(1, h^*) - F(1, h) \right) - \left(\sum_{x \in X} \omega(x, h^*) l^*(x) - \sum_{x \in X} \omega(x, h^*) l(x) \right).$$

Making use of ω (x, h^*) $\equiv \omega_L (h^*) + \omega_H (h^*) x$ and collecting terms, the second term in brackets can be rewritten as the price of human capital ω_H (h^*) multiplied by the change in average human capital $h^* - h = \sum_x x (l^* (x) - l(x))$,

$$\sum_{x \in X} \omega (x, h^*) l^* (x) - \sum_{x \in X} \omega (x, h^*) l (x)$$

= $\omega_H (h^*) \sum_{x \in X} x (l^* (x) - l (x)) = \omega_H (h^*) (h^* - h)$

Hence,

$$\Delta = F(1, h^*) - F(1, h) - \omega_{_H}(h^*)(h^* - h)$$
$$= \left(\frac{F(1, h^*) - F(1, h)}{h^* - h} - \omega_{_H}(h^*)\right)(h^* - h),$$

which implies that $\Delta / (h^* - h) \rightarrow F_2(1, h) - \omega_{_H}(h)$ as $h^* \rightarrow h$. Combined with $\omega_{_H}(h) \equiv F_2(1, h)$ in (3.3) this proves that $\partial \ln \omega$ (*h*, $l(x) : x \in X) / \partial h = 0$.

The proof of proposition 1 and the intuition behind the result is closely related to the dual approach to TFP accounting. The main difference is that dual TFP accounting identifies the change in TFP associated with the passing of time while the constant-composition approach identifies the change in TFP associated with an increase in the aggregate supply of human capital ⁹.

Proposition 1 suggests that the strength of average-schooling externalities between *t* and *T* can be estimated in two steps. First obtain the average wage at time *T* in city *c* using wages at *T* but the labor-force composition at *t*, $w_{cT}^{t} = \sum_{x} w_{cT}(x) l_{ct}(x)$. Second regress the log-change in wages holding laborforce skill-composition constant, $\ln w_{cT}^{t} - \ln w_{ct}$, on the increase in average schooling between *t* and *T* (and other variables that may affect wages).

^{9.} One way to see the relationship between dual TFP accounting and the constant-composition approach to human capital externalities is to derive the result in proposition 1 in a way that is analogous to the derivation of the main result of dual TFP accounting. Note that $w(x, h) = w_L(h) + w_{\mu}(h) x$ yields that the left-hand side of (3.7) is a weighted average of the effect of human capital on the price of labor $d \ln w_L(h) / d \ln h = \varepsilon_L$ and on the price of human capital $d \ln w_L(h) / d \ln h = \varepsilon_{\mu}$ and on the price of human capital $d \ln w_L(h) / d \ln h = \varepsilon_{\mu}$ and on the price of human capital in wages. Log-differentiating both sides of the equality between output and labor income, $y = w_L(h) + w_{\mu}(h) h$ for all h, yields $\theta + \beta = (1 - \beta) \varepsilon_L + \beta (\varepsilon_{\mu} + 1)$ and hence $(1 - \beta) \varepsilon_L + \beta \varepsilon_{\mu} = \theta$.

So far we have concentrated on first-order effects of the average level of human capital on average wages holding labor-force skill-composition constant. It can be shown that second-order effects are always positive (this result is proven in appendix 5). The intuition is easiest to explain in the case without human capital externalities (when the marginal social product of human capital is equal to the price of human capital). Suppose that returns to human capital are constant. In this case the marginal social product of human capital does not depend on the average level of human capital used in production. Hence, equality between the price and the marginal social product of human capital implies that the price of human capital is also equal to the intra-marginal social product of human capital. Even a large increase in average human capital will therefore not result in an increase in average wages holding skillcomposition constant. When the marginal social product of human capital is strictly decreasing in the average level of human capital however, the intra-marginal social product of human capital exceeds the marginal social product and the price of human capital. Hence, a large increase in average human capital will result in an increase in average wages holding labor-force skill-composition constant. Empirically, higher-order effects of human capital on wages can be dealt with just like in the model with two skill types only. Either by including higher-order changes in human-capital supply among the regressors or by using an average of the beginningof-period and end-of-period skill-composition to calculate the constantcomposition log-wage change.

3.3. Identifying biased human capital externalities

Our analysis so far has maintained that human capital externalities enter production in a Hicks-neutral way. We now turn to the case where human capital externalities at the aggregate level may be biased towards workers with high levels of human capital or workers with low levels of human capital. To do so we return to the aggregate human capital framework and replace the aggregate production function in (3.1) by

$$Y = F(A_{L}, A_{H}, H),$$
(3.9)

where

$$A_{L} = h^{\theta_{L}} \text{ and } A_{H} = h^{\theta_{H}}; \qquad (3.10)$$

 θ_{L} , θ_{H} capture externalities of average human capital at the city level (*H* and *L* are defined as in the baseline model, $H \equiv \sum_{x} xL(x)$ and $L \equiv \sum_{x} L(x)$). We also assume that the production function is twice continuously differentiable and subject to constant returns to scale given A_{L} , A_{H} as well as constant or decreasing returns to human capital given A_{L} , A_{H} , $F_{22}(A_{L}L, A_{H}H) \leq 0$. The specification in (3.9) and (3.10) implies that human capital externalities affect relative wages of workers with different human capital if $\theta_{L} \neq \theta_{H}$ and the elasticity of substitution between *L* and *H* is different from unity.

To determine the strength of aggregate human capital externalities implied by (3.9) and (3.10) suppose that average human capital increases by one percent. The resulting increase in average labor productivity is θ_L (1 $-\beta$) + (1 + θ_H) β where β is the share of human capital in the average wage, β = $w_H h / w$. Of this total increase, $\theta_L (1 - \beta) + \theta_H \beta$ is due to human capital externalities and will be referred to as the strength of aggregate human capital externalities at the aggregate level. The next proposition proves that the strength of aggregate human capital externalities can be identified with the constant-composition approach.

Proposition 2. Suppose that the aggregate production function is given by (3.9). Then the elasticity of the average wage holding labor-force skill-composition weights l(x) constant with respect to average human capital is equal to $\theta_L (1 - \beta) + \theta_H \beta$.

Proof. The aggregate production function implies that the equilibrium wage schedule is given by $w(x, h) = F_1(h^{\theta_L}L, h^{\theta_H}H)h^{\theta_L} + F_2(h^{\theta_L}L, h^{\theta_H}H)h^{\theta_H}x$. This equilibrium wage schedule implies

$$\frac{\partial \ln \sum_{x} w(x, h) l(x)}{\partial h} h = \frac{\partial \log \left(F_1(h^{\theta_L}L, h^{\theta_H}H) h^{\theta_L} + F_2(h^{\theta_L}L, h^{\theta_H}H) h^{\theta_H} h_0\right)}{\partial \log h} \bigg|_{h=h_0}.$$

Constant returns to scale of the aggregate production function given A_{L} and A_{H} yields that the marginal product of human capital is homogenous of degree zero. The right-hand-side of the equation can therefore be written as

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \log \left(F_{1}\left(1, h^{1+\theta_{H}-\theta_{L}}\right) h^{\theta_{L}} + F_{2}\left(1, h^{1+\theta_{H}-\theta_{L}}\right) h^{\theta_{H}} h_{0}\right)}{\partial \log h} \bigg|_{h=h_{0}} \\ &= (1+\theta_{H}-\theta_{L}) h^{\theta_{H}-\theta_{L}} \left(F_{12}\left(1, h^{1+\theta_{H}-\theta_{L}}\right) h^{\theta_{L}} + F_{22}\left(1, h^{1+\theta_{H}-\theta_{L}}\right) h^{\theta_{H}} h_{0}\right) \frac{h}{w} \bigg|_{h=h_{0}} \\ &+ \left(\frac{\theta_{L}w^{L}}{h} + \frac{\theta_{H}w^{H}h_{0}}{h}\right) \frac{h}{w} \bigg|_{h=h_{0}}. \end{aligned}$$

Homogeneity of degree zero of the marginal product of human capital combined with the aggregate production function being twice continuously differentiable implies that F_{12} $(1, h^{1+\theta_H-\theta_L}) h^{\theta_L} + F_{22}$ $(1, h^{1+\theta_H-\theta_L}) h^{\theta_H} h_0 =$ F_{21} $(1, h^{1+\theta_H-\theta_L}) h^{\theta_L} + F_{22}$ $(1, h^{1+\theta_H-\theta_L}) h^{\theta_H} h_0 = 0$ for $h = h_0$. Hence,

$$\frac{\partial \ln w (h, l(x) : x \in X)}{\partial h} h = \theta_{L} (1 - \beta) + \theta_{H} \beta.$$

While the constant-composition approach identifies the aggregate strength of human capital externalities, it cannot identify the parameters θ_{L} and θ_{H} separately.

4. Estimation

WE now turn to how the constant-composition and the Mincerian approach can be used to estimate average-schooling externalities.

4.1. The constant-composition approach

The first step is to eliminate gender, marital status, and race effects from the data on individual wages. This is done by estimating

$$\log w_{ict} = \log \omega_{ct} (s, e) + \lambda_{pt} X_{ipt} + v_{ict}, \qquad (4.1)$$

where *w* denotes the hourly wage; *ic* denotes individual *i* in city *c*; *t* stands for either 1970 or 1990; *s*, *e* are individual schooling and experience; *X* stands for dummies for gender, race, and marital status; and *v* captures other factors determining wages ¹⁰. The regression is set up so that the city-time specific intercept, $\log \omega_{ct}$ (*s*, *e*), corresponds to the log-wage of married white males. Gender, marital status, and race effects are allowed to differ across macro-regions *p* (the regions we use are South, East, Midwest, Mountain and West). As an alternative approach we will estimate $\log \omega_{ct}$ (*s*, *e*) using data on white males only, following Acemoglu and Angrist (2001). The method used to estimate (4.1) is least squares.

Once we have estimated city-time specific wages of workers with given levels of schooling and potential experience, $\hat{\omega}_{ct}$ (*s*, *e*), we can construct average wages necessary for implementation of the constant-composition approach. The average wage in 1970 is defined as $\hat{w}_{c1970} \equiv \Sigma \ \hat{\omega}_{c1970}$ (*s*, *e*) l_{c1970} (*s*, *e*), where l_{c1970} (*s*, *e*) is the fraction of workers with individual schooling and potential experience *s*, *e* in city *c* in 1970. The average wage in 1990 using the 1970 education-experience labor-force composition is

$$\hat{w}_{c1990}^{1970} \equiv \sum_{s, e} \hat{\omega}_{c1990} (s, e) \ l_{c1970} (s, e). \tag{4.2}$$

^{10.} Our estimates of the strength of average-schooling externalities do not change when we add controls for industry or occupation to the individual wage regressions.

The strength of average-schooling externalities in cities between 1970 and 1990, α^{α} , can now be estimated by regressing the log-change of average constant-composition wages, $\Delta \log \hat{w}_{c1970,90}^{1970} \equiv \log \hat{w}_{c1990}^{1970} - \log \hat{w}_{c1970}$, on the change in average schooling, $\Delta S_{c1970,90}$, and other controls

$$\Delta \log \hat{w}_{d1970:90}^{1970} = \text{Controls} + \alpha^{cc} \Delta S_{d1970:90} + u_c.$$
(4.3)

By focusing on the determinants of average wage growth our approach eliminates city-specific fixed effects. The control variables considered are the log-change in city employment, to capture aggregate scale effects (e.g., Moomaw, 1981; Henderson, 1986), the change in average years of potential experience of workers in the city, and four dummies for the macro-regions described above.

Equation (4.3) will be estimated using two-stage least squares with the demographic structure and the share of African-Americans in 1970 (as well as various interaction effects) as instruments.

4.2. The Mincerian approach

The first step of the Mincerian approach consists of adding city-time specific fixed effects a_{d} to an otherwise standard least-squares wage regression

$$\log w_{ict} = a_{ct} + b_t s_{ict} + c_t e_{ict} + d_t e_{ict}^2 + \mu_{pt} X_{ipt} + v_{ict}, \tag{4.4}$$

where *s*, *e* are individual schooling and experience. *X* continues to stand for dummies for gender, race, and marital status (gender, marital status, and race effects are again allowed to differ across macro-regions *p*). The strength of average-schooling externalities in cities between 1970 and 1990, α^{M} , is then obtained by regressing the growth of the estimated city-time specific intercept, $\Delta \hat{a}_{c1970-90} = \hat{a}_{c1970} - \hat{a}_{c1970}$, on the change in average schooling and other controls

$$\Delta \hat{a}_{c1970-90} = \text{Controls} + \alpha^{\scriptscriptstyle M} \Delta S_{c1970-90} + u_c. \tag{4.5}$$

The methods of estimation, instruments, and control variables used to obtain the Mincerian estimate of average-schooling externalities are identical to those used to obtain the constant-composition estimate.

5. Data and Instruments

OUR constant-composition and Mincerian estimates of average-schooling externalities at the city level for the period 1970-1990 are based on data for approximately 2 million individuals in 163 cities in 1970 and 1990. The data comes from the public use micro samples (PUMS) of the US Census (US Bureau of Census, 1970, 1990). Individual wages are measured per hour worked. Experience is measured as potential experience (age minus years of schooling minus six). The control variables *X* included in the individual wage regressions are marital status, gender, and race (White; Black; Hispanic; Indian or Eskimo; Japanese, Chinese, or Filipino; Pacific Islander or Hawaiian). To estimate (4.1) potential experience is partitioned in five intervals and schooling in six intervals, which yields a total of thirty schooling experience combinations (listed in appendix 2).

Our definition of cities corresponds with some exceptions to the US Bureau of Census definition of standard metropolitan statistical areas (SMSAs) in 1990 and is explained in detail in appendix 2. City level employment in 1970 and 1990 is obtained by summing employment of all counties that were contained in the city in 1990. County-employment is the number of people with part-time or full-time jobs and comes from the U.S. Department of Commerce (US Department of Commerce, 1992). We only consider employment in the private sector and exclude agriculture and mining.

Average years of schooling (experience) at the city level are obtained by aggregating years of schooling (potential experience) of workers in the city. Average schooling across cities rose by 1.12 years during the 20-year period 1970-1990. The standard deviation of the increase in average schooling was 0.56 and the maximal increase 2.1 years. Average potential experience across cities fell by 5.3 years.

Table A.1.3 contains the results of regressing the 1970-1990 increase in average schooling across cities on the 1970 instruments using the specification that fits the data best. The R^2 of the average schooling regression is 48 percent without macro-region dummies and 57 percent with macro-region

dummies¹¹. The coefficient estimates of the average-schooling regressions in columns (1) and (2) combined with the sample values of the explanatory variables yield the following three main results (the non-linear specification implies that coefficient estimates must be combined with the sample values of the explanatory variables to assess the effect of changes in the explanatory variables on average schooling). First, cities with a larger share of workers older than 50 in 1970 (AGE50P70) experienced a greater increase in average schooling between 1970 and 1990. This is because workers who retired in this period had levels of education below the labor-force average. Second, cities with a larger number of people younger than 18 per adult in 1970 (YOUNG70) experienced a greater increase in average schooling between 1970 and 1990. This is because young people entering the labor force in this period had levels of education above the labor-force average. The quadratic specification implies that the marginal effect of YOUNG70 on the increase in average schooling was larger in cities with a larger number of people younger than 18 per adult in 1970 (and also that the marginal effect would be negative for small values of YOUNG70; for sample values the effect is always positive however). When we add macro-region dummies in column (2), YOUNG70 and YOUNG70 squared are no longer individually significant but remain jointly significant at the 5 percent level. Third, cities with a larger population share of African-Americans in 1970 experienced a greater increase in average schooling between 1970 and 1990. This is because African-Americans were catching up in schooling levels with the rest of the population over this time period.

Our constant-composition and Mincerian estimates of average-schooling externalities at the state level for the 1970-1990 period are based on data for white males aged 40-49 collected by Acemoglu and Angrist (2001) (the original data sources is US Bureau of Census, 1970, 1990). Following Acemoglu and Angrist we instrument for the change in average schooling at the state level between 1970 and 1990 using data on compulsory-schooling and child-labor laws. The basic information is summarized in eight dummies, CL6-CL9 and CA8-CA11, associated with each individual in our sample. For example the dummy CL7 is equal to one, and all other child-labor law dummies are equal to zero, if the state where the individual is likely

^{11.} The instruments (without macro-region dummies) explain 38 percent of the increase in the share of workers with a high school education or more, 31 percent of the increase in the share of workers with some college or more, 32 percent of the increase in the share of workers with a college education or more, 25 percent of the increase in the share of workers with a high school education only, and 37 percent of the decrease in the share of high school dropouts.

to have lived when aged 14 had child-labor laws imposing a minimum of 7 years of schooling. And the dummy CA8 is equal to one, and all other compulsory attendance law dummies are equal to zero, if the state where the individual is likely to have lived when aged 14 had compulsory attendance laws imposing a minimum of 8 years of schooling. The eight dummies are used to calculate the share of individuals for whom each of the CL6-CL9 and CA8-CA11 dummies is equal to one in each state. Six out of these eight shares (we omit CL6 and CA8 as both sets of variables add up to one) are used as instruments for the relative supply of more educated workers. The data does not include precise information on where individuals lived when aged 14, which is why we follow AA in assuming that at age 14 individuals either all lived in the current state of residence (state-of-residence approach) or in the state where they were born (state-of-birth approach). Both the state-of-residence and the state-of-birth instruments predict more than 40 percent of the change in average schooling 1970-1990 (not in table). As an alternative to the Acemoglu and Angrist instruments we also use the instruments of table A.1.3 at the state level. These instruments predict just above 50 percent of the change in average schooling 1970-1990 at the state level (not in table).

6. Results

WE first discuss the results using the constant-composition approach to average-schooling externalities and then compare the constant-composition results with those of the Mincerian approach.

6.1. The constant-composition approach

Table A.1.4 contains the results of estimating (4.3) at the city level using two-stage least squares (2SLS) with the instruments discussed in the previous section¹². Column (1) uses the constant and four (of the five) macro-region dummies as controls. The estimate of the strength of average-schooling externalities is 0.014 with a standard error of 0.03 and hence highly insignificant. Column (2) eliminates the (individually and jointly) insignificant macro-region dummies SOUTH and WEST. The estimate of the strength of average-schooling externalities is now -0.004 with a standard error of 0.017. Column (3) uses the constant and four macro-region dummies as well as the change in average potential experience 1970-1990 as controls. The estimate of the strength of average-schooling externalities does not change much compared to the specification without average experience in column (1). Changes in average potential experience have a significantly negative effect on average wages holding labor-force skill-composition constant. Hence, cities where the average age of the labor force fell more than average saw an above-average increase of average wages holding labor-force skillcomposition constant, which suggests that these cities experienced an inflow of workers with high wages due to unobservable characteristics. The P-value of the test of overidentifying restrictions in the last row (0.53) indicates that

^{12.} Least-squares (LS) estimation of (4.3) is likely to yield biased estimates because the increase in average schooling is endogenous and measured with error. Still, in practice LS estimates of the strength of average-schooling externalities are very similar to 2SLS estimates (the difference is at most half a percentage point) and highly insignificant. For example, the LS estimate of the average-schooling coefficient in the specification of column (1) of table A.1.4 is 0.011 with a standard error of 0.026. This suggests that the different biases present in least-squares estimation tend to offset each other in this particular application.

these restrictions cannot be rejected at standard significance levels. Column (4) eliminates the (individually and jointly) insignificant macro-region dummies SOUTH and WEST. The estimate of average-schooling externalities is now -0.01 with a standard error of 0.018. The P-value of the test of overidentifying restrictions in the last row (0.41) indicates that these restrictions cannot be rejected at standard significance levels. Re-estimating the specifications in columns (1) to (4) for full-time workers only yields slightly larger average-schooling externalities, although the difference never exceeds half a percentage point. Columns (5) to (10) estimate equation (4.3) using selected instruments as additional control variables. The direct effect of the instruments on average wages holding labor-force skill-composition constant is in all cases small and statistically insignificant. For example, when adding the population share of African-Americans in 1970 as a control variable in column (7), we find that a 5 percentage points increase in this share lowers average wages holding labor-force skill-composition constant by only 0.2 percent (the maximum variation in the share of African-Americans across cities in 1970 is 25 percentage points) and that this effect is highly insignificant. Moreover, estimates of the strength of average-schooling externalities in columns (5) to (10) remain close to zero and insignificant.

Table A.1.5 contains the results of estimating (4.3) using data on white males only to construct constant-composition average wages using (4.2) and (4.1). The method of estimation is 2SLS with the usual instruments. The results are very similar to those obtained using all workers once the (individually and jointly) insignificant macro-region dummies SOUTH and WEST are eliminated. For example the strength of average-schooling externalities in column (2) is -0.001 with a standard error of 0.021. The Pvalue of the test of overidentifying restrictions in the last row (0.73) indicates that these restrictions cannot be rejected at standard significance levels. Estimating (4.3) using data on white males aged 40-49 only to construct constant-composition average wages in (4.2) also yields results that are similar to those obtained with all workers (not in the table).

Estimates of the strength of aggregate scale effects in tables A.1.2 and A.1.3 are very imprecise and larger than the 4 to 10 percent reported in the literature (e.g., Henderson, 1986; Ciccone and Hall, 1996). To see whether our results are sensitive to the strength of aggregate scale effects we estimate (4.3) restricting aggregate scale effects to values between 4 and 10 percent. The results are reported in table A.1.6. Estimates of the strength of average-schooling externalities are in all cases close to the values obtained earlier.

Table A.1.7 contains constant-composition-approach estimates of average-schooling externalities between 1970 and 1990 at the US *state level*. The method of estimation is 2SLS using either the instruments of Acemoglu and Angrist (2001) or our instruments at the state level. Column (1) contains the result of estimating $\Delta \log \hat{w}_{state1970\cdot90}^{1970}$ = Constant + $\alpha^{cc} \Delta S_{state1970\cdot90}$, where state level constant-composition average wages are constructed using data on white males aged 40-49 only, with the Acemoglu and Angrist state-of-residence instruments (like them, we do not include the change in log-employment or other control variables in the estimating equation). Using the state-of-birth instruments instead yields very similar results. Column (2) contains the result of estimating the same equation using 2SLS with our instruments at the state level. It can be seen that estimates of the strength of average-schooling externalities obtained with both sets of instruments are nearly identical. Constant-composition estimates of average schooling externalities between 1960 and 1980, obtained using the same methods and procedures as described above, are reported in columns (3) and (4) and are very similar to those obtained for the 1970-1990 period.

Re-estimating all specifications using the 1990 education-experience labor-force composition to calculate the log-change in the constant-composition wage yields estimates of average-schooling externalities that are within one percentage point of the results using the 1970 composition. Higher-order effects of average schooling on wages do therefore not appear to play an important role in these applications.

6.2. The Mincerian approach

Table A.1.8 contains estimates of average-schooling externalities at the city level for the period 1970-1990 using the Mincerian approach in (4.5). The control variables, estimation method, and instruments are the same ones used for the constant-composition approach. Columns (1) and (2) contain the results when the underlying Mincerian wage regression in (4.4) is estimated using all workers. The external effect on productivity of an additional year of average schooling is around 8 percent and statistically significant at the 5 percent level. Columns (1) and (2) differ in that the latter eliminates the (individually and jointly) insignificant SOUTH and WEST macro-region dummies ¹³. Column (3) contains the average-schooling-externality estimate when the Mincerian intercept is estimated using data on

^{13.} The LS estimate of average-schooling externalities in the specification of column (1) of table A.1.8 is 0.092 with a standard error of 0.029. LS estimates of average-schooling externalities in columns (2) and (3) are 0.076 and 0.082 respectively.

white males only. Results are very similar to the case where all workers are used. The P-value of the test of overidentifying restrictions in the last row of columns (1) to (3) indicates that these restrictions cannot be rejected at standard significance levels. Estimating the Mincerian intercept with data on white males aged 40-49 only does not change the results significantly (not in the table).

Estimating average-schooling externalities at the state level for the period 1970-1990 using the Mincerian approach also yields statistically significant externalities whether we use our instruments or the Acemoglu and Angrist (2001) state schooling law instruments. Using our instruments, the estimates external effect on productivity of an additional year of average schooling is 10.2 percent with a standard error of 3.6 percent (statistically significant at the 5 percent level). Using the Acemoglu and Angrist instruments yields average-schooling externalities of 9.8 percent with a standard error of 3.8 percent (also statistically significant at the 5 percent level).

When we apply the Mincerian approach at the state level to the 1960-1980 period, we find average-schooling externalities of around 2 percent whether we use our instruments or the Acemoglu and Angrist (2001) state schooling law instruments. Hence, the Mincerian approach yields different results for the 1970-1990 period than for the 1960-1980 period. Simulation results of Acemoglu and Angrist (2001) show that this difference can be partly explained by the US Census recording individual schooling as a categorical variable starting with the 1990 Census. They show that this change in measurement can explain a spurious average-schooling externality of 1.7-2.1 percent. This leaves about three quarters of the difference between the Mincerian schooling-externality estimates for the 1960-1980 and 1970-1990 period unexplained.

7. Conclusions

WAGES may respond to the aggregate supply of human capital because of a downward sloping demand curve for human capital. The existing Mincerian approach to human capital externalities confounds such wage changes with externalities. As a result, it yields positive human capital externalities when wages equal marginal social products. Using estimates of the elasticity of substitution between more and less educated workers in the empirical literature, we find that the upward bias of the Mincerian approach is between 60 and 70 percent of the individual return to schooling in a first-order approximation and somewhat larger in simulations.

We propose an alternative approach to the identification of human capital externalities that yields consistent estimates whether or not the demand curve for human capital is downward sloping. The theoretical basis is that, under general conditions, the strength of human capital externalities equals the effect of human capital on the average wage when holding the labor-force skill-composition constant. Another advantage of our (constantcomposition) approach compared to the Mincerian approach is that it does not require estimating individual returns to human capital and can therefore be used to estimate average-schooling externalities even when instruments for individual schooling are unavailable.

The approach to identification emerging from this theoretical argument can be used to estimate externalities at the city, region, or country level over any time period in two steps. The first step requires obtaining wages w_x and labor-force shares l_x by skill type x in each city, region, or country at the beginning and the end of the relevant time period to calculate the logchange in the average wage holding skill-composition constant, $\ln (\Sigma \bar{l}_x \tilde{u}_x) \ln (\Sigma \bar{l}_x \bar{u}_x)$ where upper bars denote beginning-of-period values and tildes end-of-period values. The second step consists of regressing the log-change in constant-composition average wages on (exogenous) changes in the supply of human capital and other determinants of wages. If the change in the supply of human capital enters positively and significantly, this indicates positive externalities. Higher-order effects of human-capital supply on wages can be dealt with by either including higher-order changes in supply among the regressors or by using an average of the beginning-of-period and end-ofperiod skill-composition to calculate the constant-composition log-wage change.

As an application of the constant-composition approach we assess the strength of average-schooling externalities in US cities and states between 1970 and 1990 using instrumental-variable estimation methods to account for endogenous average schooling. Our empirical results yield no evidence of statistically significant average-schooling externalities at the city level or the state level. Point estimates of the external return to a one-year increase in average schooling are around zero at the city level and around 2 percent at the state level.

Appendices

Appendix 1. Tables and Figures

TABLE A.1.1: Rejection frequencies of the null of no human capital externalities in a simulated model without human capital externalities

Panel A	Mincerian	approach
I and I I	mineerian	approach

(percentages)

Confidence level: 5-10	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0$	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0.02$	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0.04$	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0.06$	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0.08$
$StdDev(\Delta S) = 0.02$	100	94	49	27	17
	100	98	73	51	37
$StdDev(\Delta S) = 0.03$	100	99.7	81	51	32
	100	99.9	93	76	58
$StdDev(\Delta S) = 0.04$	100	100	96	75	52
	100	100	99	90	75

Notes: The reported values are the percentages of draws in which an econometrician rejects the null of no externalities against an alternative of positive externalities at the 5 or 10% confidence level respectively using the Mincerian approach. Each test is based on the t-statistic for the parameter θ_d^u estimated as explained in section 2. The percentages are based on 5,000 random draws of city-specific human capital shocks and skill-biased technology shocks.

Panel B: Constant-composition approach

(percentages)

Confidence Level: 5-10	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0$	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0.02$	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0.04$	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0.06$	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0.08$
$StdDev(\Delta S) = 0.02$	0.6	1.6	2.0	2.1	2.1
	3.0	7.5	9.1	8.3	9.1
$StdDev(\Delta S) = 0.03$	0.3	0.8	1.5	1.7	2.0
	0.9	4.6	6.4	7.5	7.4
$StdDev(\Delta S) = 0.04$	0.08	0.2	0.6	1.0	1.1
	0.2	1.2	2.9	4.3	4.8

Notes: The reported values are the percentages of draws in which an econometrician rejects the null of no externalities against an alternative of positive externalities at the 5 or 10% confidence level respectively using the constant-composition approach. Each test is based on the t-statistic for the parameter θ_d^{\pm} estimated as explained in section 2. The percentages are based on 5,000 random draws of city-specific human capital shocks and skill-biased technology shocks.

TABLE A.1.2.: Average estimates of human capital externalities in a simulated model without human capital externalities

Average $\hat{\theta}_d^{\scriptscriptstyle M}$ [Share of $\hat{\theta}_d^{\scriptscriptstyle M} > 0$]	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0$	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0.02$	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0.04$	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0.06$	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0.08$
$StdDev(\Delta S) = 0.02$	0.339	0.340	0.338	0.343	0.336
	[0.999]	[0.997]	[0.950]	[0.871]	[0.810]
$StdDev(\Delta S) = 0.03$	0.340	0.346	0.347	0.349	0.344
	[0.999]	[0.999]	[0.992]	[0.950]	[0.900]
$StdDev(\Delta S) = 0.04$	0.351	0.353	0.352	0.351	0.351
	[0.999]	[0.999]	[0.999]	[0.998]	[0.963]

Panel A: Mincerian approach

Notes: The reported values in each cell are the average value of $\hat{\theta}_d^{\mu}$ (estimated using (2.12)) and the fraction of values larger than zero based on 5,000 random draws of city-specific human capital shocks and skill-biased technology shocks.

Panel B: Constant-composition approach

Average $\hat{\theta}_d^{cc}$ [Share of $\hat{\theta}_d^{cc} > 0$]	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0$	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0.02$	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0.04$	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0.06$	$StdDev(\Delta A) = 0.08$
$StdDev(\Delta S) = 0.02$	-0.003	-0.003	-0.003	-0.002	-0.004
	[0.300]	[0.445]	[0.488]	[0.495]	[0.493]
$StdDev(\Delta S) = 0.03$	-0.008	-0.008	-0.008	-0.008	-0.008
	[0.110]	[0.334]	[0.399]	[0.433]	[0.448]
$StdDev(\Delta S) = 0.04$	-0.017	-0.018	-0.018	-0.017	-0.018
	[0.051]	[0.166]	[0.277]	[0.332]	[0.364]

Notes: The reported values in each cell are the average value of $\hat{\theta}_{a}^{c}$ (estimated using (2.14)) and the fraction of values larger than zero based on 5,000 random draws of city-specific human capital shocks and skill-biased technology shocks.

	Change in average schoolin 1970-1990 (Δ <i>S</i>)		
	(1)	(2)	
Share of the city labor force older than 50 in 1970 (50PLUS70)	5.7**	3.6**	
	(1.1)	(1.1)	
Share of African-Americans in the city-population in 1970 (AA70)	11.6**	6.8**	
	(3.1)	(2.9)	
People in the city younger than 18 per adult in 1970 (YOUNG70)	-3.7*	-3.0	
	(2.2)	(2.2)	
YOUNG70*YOUNG70	2.7**	2.8	
	(1.2)	(2.1)	
YOUNG70*AA70	-5.9**	-2.9	
	(2.6)	(2.5)	
50PLUS70*AA70	-16.7**	-8.8	
	(8.2)	(8.2)	
MIDWEST		-0.17**	
		(0.06)	
MOUNTAIN		-0.29**	
		(0.14)	
WEST		-0.47**	
		(0.07)	
SOUTH		-0.14**	
		(0.07)	
R^2	0.48	0.57	

TABLE A.1.3: Quality of the 1970 instruments for the changein average schooling and average experience 1970-1990

Notes: Results of regressing the increase in average years of schooling and average years of potential experience 1970-1990 at the city level on a constant and the variables in the leftmost column using least squares with robust standard errors. The number of observations is 163. YOUNG70 and YOUNG70 squared are always jointly significant at the 5 percent level. * and ** denote estimates that are significantly different from zero at the 10 and 5 percent level. The quadratic specification for YOUNG70 implies that the marginal effect of YOUNG70 on the increase in average schooling (average experience) would be negative (positive) for small values of YOUNG70; for sample values the effect is always positive (negative) however.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
Change in group go	0.014	-0.004	0.005	-0.01	0.003	-0.001	-0.006		-0.006	0.001
Change in average schooling 1970-1990 (ΔS)					(0.029)					
Change in average experience 1970-1990 (Δ <i>E</i>)					-0.017** (0.008)					
Log-change in aggregate employment $(\Delta \log L)$	0.16** (0.06)	0.081** (0.027)	0.2** (0.07)	0.11** (0.04)	0.11** (0.05)	0.11** (0.05)	0.12** (0.04)	0.12** (0.05)	0.12** (0.04)	0.11** (0.04)
MOUNTAIN	-0.11** (0.02)	-0.09** (0.01)			-0.09** (0.008)					-0.09**
MIDWEST	-0.07** (0.013)	-0.06** (0.01)			0.05** -(0.01)					
SOUTH	-0.03 (0.02)		-0.036 (0.026)							
WEST	-0.027 (0.03)		-0.032 (0.033)							
YOUNG70*AA70					-0.06 (0.1)					-0.35 (0.4)
YOUNG70						-0.022 (0.036)				
AA70							-0.04 (0.09)			0.28 (0.33)
AGE50P*AA70								-0.004 (0.34)		
AGE50P									0.13 (0.37)	

TABLE A.1.4: Average-schooling externalities at the city level: constant-composition approach 1970-1990

TABLE A.1.4: (continuation): A	verage-schooling externalities at the city level:
C	onstant-composition approach 1970-1990

All workers										
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
P-Value overidentifying restrictions			0.53	0.41						

Notes: 2SLS estimation with robust standard errors of (4.3) at the city level. All regressions contain a constant. Constant-composition average wages constructed with data on all workers. Right-hand-side variables used are those in the leftmost column. Instruments used are: people in the city younger than 18 per adult in 1970 (YOUNG70), the share of the city labor force older than 50 in 1970 (50PLUS70), the share of African-Americans in the city-population in 1970 (AA70), YOUNG70*YOUNG70, YOUNG70*AA70, YOUNG70*50PLUS70, and four macro-region dummies. * and ** denote estimates that are significantly different from zero at the 10 and 5 percent level.

		V	White male	es	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Change in average schooling	0.046	-0.001	-0.017	-0.005	-0.001
1970-1990 (Δ <i>S</i>)	(0.04)	(0.021)	(0.045)	(0.041)	(0.023)
Change in average experience	-0.02*	-0.02*	-0.02*	-0.021*	-0.02*
1970-1990 (ΔΕ)	(0.011)	(0.011)	(0.013)	(0.013)	(0.011)
Log-change in aggregate employment	0.16**	0.13**	0.14**	0.14**	0.14**
$(\Delta \log L)$	(0.08)	(0.05)	(0.05)	(0.05)	(0.05)
MOUNTAIN	-0.11**	-0.12**	-0.12**	-0.12**	-0.12**
	(0.03)	(0.013)	(0.012)	(0.013)	(0.014)
MIDWEST	-0.029	-0.035**	-0.03**	-0.035**	-0.035*
	(0.019)	(0.014)	(0.01)	(0.014)	(0.014
SOUTH	-0.018				
	(0.028)				
WEST	0.026				
	(0.052)				
YOUNG70*AA70					
YOUNG70					-0.005
					(0.05)
AA70			-0.055		
			(0.14)		
AGE50P*AA70					
AGE50P				0.017	
				(0.14)	
P-Value overidentifying restrictions	0.87	0.73			

TABLE A.1.5: Average-schooling externalities at the city level: constant-composition approach 1970-1990

Notes: 2SLS estimation with robust standard errors of (4.3) at the city level. All regressions contain a constant. Constant-composition average wages constructed with data on white males only. Right-hand-side variables used are those in the leftmost column. Instruments used are: people in the city younger than 18 per adult in 1970 (YOUNG70), the share of the city labor force older than 50 in 1970 (50PLUS70), the share of African-Americans in the city population in 1970 (AA70), YOUNG70*YOUNG70, YOUNG70*AA70, YOUNG70*50PLUS70, and four macro-region dummies. The number of observations is 163. * and ** denote estimates that are significantly different from zero at the 10 and 5 percent level.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	
	â	â	â	
$\delta = 0.04$	-0.008	-0.017	-0.022	
	(0.026)	(0.027)	(0.016)	
$\delta = 0.06$	-0.004	-0.014	-0.019	
	(0.025)	(0.027)	(0.016)	
$\delta = 0.08$	0.0002	-0.01	-0.015	
	(0.025)	(0.028)	(0.016)	
$\delta = 0.1$	0.0004	-0.006	-0.011	
	(0.026)	(0.028)	(0.016)	

TABLE A.1.6: Average-schooling externalities: constant-composition approach 1970-1990 with restricted scale effects

Notes: Method of estimation is 2SLS with robust standard errors. Estimated parameter is the strength of average-schooling externalities at the city level using (4.3) and restricting the strength of aggregate scale effects δ to the values in the leftmost column. Instruments used are: people in the city younger than 18 per adult in 1970 (YOUNG70), the share of the city-labor force older than 50 in 1970 (50PLUS70), the share of African-Americans in the city-population in 1970 (AA70), YOUNG70*YOUNG70, YOUNG70*AA70, YOUNG70*50PLUS70, and four macro-region dummies. The number of observations is 163. * and ** denote estimates that are significantly different from zero at the 10 and 5 percent level. The control variables used are:

• Column (1): a constant and four macro-region dummies. The P-value of the hypothesis that the macro-region dummies SOUTH and WEST can be excluded from the estimating equation is 0.43.

• Column (2): same as in (5) plus the increase in average experience. The P-value of the hypothesis that the macro-region dummies SOUTH and WEST can be excluded from the estimating equation is 0.57.

• Column (3): a constant and two macro-region dummies (MOUNTAIN, MIDWEST) plus increase in average experience. The P-values of the test of overidentifying restrictions (not in the table) indicate that these restrictions cannot be rejected at standard significance levels for the values of δ in the table.

	1970	1970-1990		-1980
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Change in average schooling at the US state level 1970-1990	0.029 (0.028)	0.027 (0.026)	0.018 (0.024)	0.016 (0.023)
P-Value overidentifying restrictions	0.86	0.66	0.75	0.69
Comments	AAIV	OURIV	AAIV	OURIV

TABLE A.1.7: Average-schooling externalities at the state level:constant-composition approach 1970-1990 (and 1960-1980)

Notes: 2SLS estimation at the US state level of $\Delta \log \hat{w}_i^c$ = Constant + $\alpha \Delta S_i$ for 1970-1990 and 1960-1980, where state level constant-composition average wages are constructed using white males aged 40-49 only. AAIV refers to the instruments used by Acemoglu and Angrist (2001) and OURIV refers to our instruments used at the state level. The number of observations is 49. See the main text for additional explanations.

	All workers		White males	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	
Change in average schooling	0.085**	0.071**	0.079**	
1970-1990 (ΔS)	(0.036)	(0.017)	(0.038)	
Change in average experience	-0.017*	-0.013*	-0.016*	
1970-1990 (ΔΕ)	(0.01)	(0.008)	(0.01)	
Log-change in aggregate employment	0.28**	0.16**	0.22**	
$(\Delta \log L)$	(0.08)	(0.04)	(0.09)	
MOUNTAIN	-0.09**	-0.053**	-0.16**	
	(0.026)	(0.013)	(0.03)	
MIDWEST	0.066**	-0.055**	-0.054**	
	(0.016)	(0.012)	(0.017)	
SOUTH	-0.047			
	(0.035)			
WEST	-0.047			
	(0.036)			
P-Value overidentifying restrictions	0.64	0.21	0.23	

TABLE A.1.8: Average-sch	100ling externalities: N	fincerian approach 1970-1990

Notes: 2SLS estimation with robust standard errors of (4.5) at the city level. All regressions contain a constant. Mincerian intercepts are estimated using data on all workers in columns (1) and (2) and white males only in column (3). Right-hand-side variables used are those in the leftmost column. Instruments used are: people in the city younger than 18 per adult in 1970 (YOUNG70), the share of the city labor force older than 50 in 1970 (50PLUS70), the share of African-Americans in the city-population in 1970 (AA70), YOUNG70*YOUNG70, YOUNG70*AA70, YOUNG70*50PLUS70, and four macro-region dummies. The number of observations is 163. * and ** denote estimates that are significantly different from zero at the 10 and 5 percent level.

Appendix 2. Data and Some Statistics

THE data used in the empirical analysis comes from the *Census of Population and Housing* Public-Use Microdata Samples (PUMS) files. For 1970 we have used the 5 percent sample modifying the extraction code kindly provided by David Card. The geographic identifier used for 1970 is the *County Group Code*. For 1980 and 1990 we have used the *Card and Chay* extracts of the 5 percent PUMS (available at ftp://elsa.berkeley.edu/pub/census/), which include the standard metropolitan statistical area (SMSA) code as a geographic identifier.

A.2.1. Construction of Cities

The definition of cities that we use corresponds, with some exceptions, to the US Bureau of Census definition of SMSAs in 1990. The PUMS of the 1980 and 1990 US Census have (FIPS) codes identifying the SMSA where individuals live. With this information we can assign individuals in 1980 and 1990 to one of 236 cities. The 1970 US Census does not identify the SMSAs where individuals live, only whether they live in a SMSA or not. Individuals are instead assigned to so-called county groups. County groups can be related to SMSAs by using the so-called county group map (attached to the PUMS in 1970). We match individuals to SMSAs in the following way. When one or more county groups are contained in one SMSA, we assign individuals located in one of the county groups to the SMSA that contains them. When a county group contained more than one SMSA, we merged the different SMSAs into one (13 of our 163 cities are obtained this way) applying the same criterion to SMSAs in 1980 and 1990 (to ensure that cities are defined in the same way in 1970, 1980 and 1990). Finally, when a county group was contained partly in a SMSA and partly in a non-SMSA area, we assigned all individuals located in the county group who lived in a SMSA to the SMSA that contained part of the county group. This procedure resulted in 163 cities for 1970, 1980 and 1990. The code to perform the identification and merge of cities is available from us upon request.

A.2.2. Definition of Individual Wages and Schooling

Hourly wages in a given year have been calculated as yearly salary and wage divided by weeks worked times average hours per week worked in the year. All regressions are run using only individuals with positive hours worked and non-negative potential experience. All variables refer to the year previous to the census. Top-codes differ across years. Individual years of schooling have been obtained in the following way. For 1970 and 1980, we use the variables *Highest Grade Attended* and *Grade* which yields nineteen levels of schooling. For 1990, we use the variable *Yearsch* which yields eleven levels of schooling. When we only observe an interval for years of schooling, we use the midpoint of the interval as years of schooling in the Mincerian wage regressions in (4.4). The Variable *years of experience* used in (4.4) is potential experience, i.e., age minus years of schooling minus six. For the constant-composition approach in (4.1) we partition years of schooling in six intervals [0-9), [9-12), [12-14), [14-16), [16-17) and [17 and more) and years of experience in five intervals [0-10), [20-30), [30-40), [40-more).

Appendix 3. The Constant-Composition Approach to Human Capital Externalities at the Country Level

THE constant-composition approach as developed so far cannot be applied to the identification of human capital externalities at the country level because it would be unreasonable to assume that all countries have access to a perfectly competitive international market for physical capital. This raises the question of how the strength of average human capital externalities can be estimated at the country level. To answer this question suppose that the production function at the country level is

$$Y = AF(L, H, K),$$
 (A.3.1)

where *K* is the physical capital stock used in production and the level of TFP is $A = Bh^{\theta}$ where *B* captures exogenous differences in TFP and θ the strength of average human capital externalities at the country level; *L*, *H* are defined as usual. Assume that the aggregate production function is twice continuously differentiable and subject to constant returns to scale to *L*, *H*, *K* as well as constant or decreasing returns to human capital and to physical capital. Suppose also that labor markets and the market for physical capital at the country level are perfectly competitive and that firms maximize profits taking the level of TFP as given. Denote the rental price of physical capital at the country level by *r* and define *factor income per worker* by $\Sigma w(x, h) l(x) dx + rk$, where *k* is the physical capital intensity. Then the following proposition holds.

Proposition 1. The elasticity of factor income per worker with respect to the average level of human capital yields the strength of average human capital externalities when labor-force skill-composition weights l(x) and the physical capital intensity k are held constant

$$\frac{\partial \left(\sum w(x, h) l(x) dx + rk\right)}{\partial h} \frac{h}{\sum w(x, h) l(x) dx + rk} \bigg|_{l(x) \forall x \text{ and } k \text{ constant}} = \theta. (A.3.2)$$

Proof. The argument is very similar to the proof of proposition 2, which is why we will only sketch the main elements. Competitive factor markets at the country level, profit-maximization, and the aggregate production function imply that factor income per worker can be written as $\Sigma w(x, h) l(x) dx + rk = AF_1 + AF_2h + AF_3k$, where F_i denotes the partial derivative of F(L, H, K) with respect to the *i*-th argument. Hence (A.3.2) follows if $\partial (F_1 + F_2h + F_3k) / \partial h = F_{12} + F_{22}h + F_{32}k = 0$. To demonstrate this last equality, notice that constant returns to scale to L, H, K and twice continuous differentiability of the production function imply $F_{21}(1, h, k) + F_{22}(1, h, k) h + F_{23}(1, h, k) k = F_{12}(1, h, k) + F_{22}(1, h, k) h + F_{32}(1, h, k) k = 0$.

Appendix 4. Effects of Labor Supply on Relative Wages

NOTICE that equation (3.3) can be written as $w(x) = AF(1, h) + AF_2(1, h)$ (*x* – *h*) using constant returns to scale given TFP of (3.1) Hence,

$$\frac{\partial \frac{w(x^{l})}{w(x^{h})}}{\partial h} = -\frac{F(1, h) F_{22}(1, h) (x^{h} - x^{l})}{\left(F(1, h) + F_{2}(1, h) (x^{h} - h)\right)^{2}}$$
(A.4.1)

or, denoting the amount of labor with human capital x used in production by L(x),

$$\frac{\partial \frac{w(x^{l})}{w(x^{h})}}{\partial L(x^{l})} \bigg|_{L(x^{h}) + L(x^{l}) = \text{constant}} = \frac{F(1, h)}{\left(F(1, h) + F_{2}(1, h)(x^{h} - h)\right)^{2}L} F_{22}(1, h)(x^{h} - x^{l})^{2},$$
(A.4.2)

using $L \equiv L(x^{l}) + L(x^{h})$ and $h \equiv (L(x^{l})x^{l} + L(x^{h})x^{h}) / L$. The increase in the relative wage of low human capital workers is therefore proportional to $-F_{22}$ (1, *h*) $(x^{h} - x^{l})^{2}$ when the supply of low human capital workers decreases and the supply of high human capital workers increases by the same amount.

Appendix 5. Second-Order Effects of the Constant-Composition Approach

Proposition 2. Suppose that the aggregate production function in (3.1) is three times continuously differentiable. Then the second-order effect of the log of average human capital on the log of average wages when holding labor-force skill-composition weights constant is $\eta \equiv -F_{22}$ (1, *h*) $h^2 / F(1, h)|_{h=h_0} \ge 0$, where $h_0 = \sum l(x) x$. The quadratic approximation of the relationship between the log-change of average wages holding labor-force skill-composition weights constant and the log-change of average human capital is therefore $\Delta \log w$ (*h*, $l(x) : x \ge 0$) $|_{l(x) \text{ constant } \forall x} = \theta$ ($\Delta \log h$) + η ($\Delta \log h$)².

Proof. The first-order effect is $\theta + \partial \log (F_1(1, h) + F_2(1, h) h_0) / \partial \log$ $h = \theta + (F_{12} (1, h) + F_{22} (1, h) h_0) h / (F_1 (1, h) + F_2 (1, h) h_0)$ evaluated at $h = \theta + (F_{12} (1, h) + F_{22} (1, h) h_0) h / (F_1 (1, h) + F_2 (1, h) h_0)$ h_0 The second-order effect can be obtained by differentiating the expression above with respect to log *h* and evaluating it at $h = h_0$. Differentiation yields $h(F_{12}(1, h) + F_{22}(1, h) h_0) \partial (h / (F_1(1, h) + F_2(1, h) h_0)) / \partial h + (F_{122}(1, h) h_0))$ $(1, h) + F_{222}(1, h) h_0 (h^2 / (F_1(1, h) + F_2(1, h) h_0))$. The first term evaluated at $h = h_0$ is zero because constant returns to scale of the production function given TFP implies that F_2 (L, H) is homogenous of degree zero, which combined with twice continuous differentiability of the production function yields $F_{12}(1, h) + F_{22}(1, h) h_0 = F_{21}(1, h) + F_{22}(1, h) h_0 = 0$ for $h = h_0$. To simplify the second term notice that constant returns to scale given TFP also imply that $F_1(1, h_0) + F_2(1, h_0) h_0 = F(1, h_0)$ and that $F_{22}(L, H)$ is homogenous of degree minus one. The latter combined with three times continuous differentiability of the production function yields $-F_{22}$ (1, h_0) = F_{221} (1, h_0) + F_{222} (1, h_0) $h_0 = F_{122}$ (1, h_0) + F_{222} (1, h_0) h_0 . Hence, the second term evaluated at $h = h_0$ becomes $-F_{22}(1, h_0) (h_0)^2 / F(1, h_0)$.

Appendix 6. Identifying Human Capital Externalities in the Katz and Murphy Framework

T is straightforward to show that the constant-composition approach to the identification of human capital externalities carries over to the Katz and Murphy (1992) framework. To see this suppose following Katz and Murphy that total output Y_{ct} in city c at time t is produced according to a constant returns to scale production function $Y_{ct} = h_{ct}^{\theta} F(L_{cb}, H_{ct})$, where h = H / L and Hand L are related to the hours supplied by high school dropouts N_1 , high school graduates N_2 , college dropouts N_3 , and college graduates N_4 through $H \equiv \beta N_1 + bN_3 + N_4$ and $L \equiv \alpha N_1 + N_2 + aN_3^{-14}$. Assume also that all markets are competitive and do not internalize the effect of human capital on output captured by θ (θ measures the strength of human capital externalities).

It is straightforward to show that the supply of workers of different types affects the wage of type-*i* workers only through the average level of human capital *h*. Hence, the average wage in a city can be written as

$$w(h, n_i: i = 1, 2, 3, 4) \equiv \sum_i w_i(h) n_i,$$
 (A.6.1.)

where $w_i(h)$ is the wage of type-*i* workers as a function of average human capital and $n_i = N_i / (\Sigma N_i)$ their share in the labor force. The definition in (A.6.1) allows us to state the main proposition.

^{14.} Katz and Murphy (1992: 67-69) consider a framework with two labor inputs, high school equivalents and college equivalents. High school graduates are treated as pure high school equivalents and college graduates as pure college equivalents. High school and college dropouts are seen as combinations of high school graduates and college graduates. The weights are determined by regressing wages of high school (college) dropouts on the wages of high school graduates and college graduates. Our assumptions on production are necessary and sufficient to obtain the KM framework.

Proposition 3. The elasticity of the average wage with respect to the average level of human capital yields the strength of average human capital externalities when labor-force skill-composition weights n_i are held constant, $\partial \ln w$ (h, n_i : i = 1, 2, 3, 4) / $\partial \ln h = \theta$.

Proof. Notice that

$$\frac{\partial \ln w (h, n_i: i = 1, 2, 3, 4)}{\partial \ln h} = \sum_i \left(\frac{n_i w_i}{w}\right) \left(\frac{\partial w_i}{\partial h} \frac{h}{w_i}\right) =$$
$$= \sum_i \left(\frac{n_i w_i}{w}\right) \theta + \left[\sum_i \left(\frac{n_i w_i}{w}\right) \frac{\partial \left(\frac{w_i}{h^{\theta}}\right)}{\partial h} \frac{h}{w_i}\right].$$

Hence, the result follows if the term in square brackets is equal to zero, i.e., if the first-order effect of the average level of human capital on the average wage holding labor-force skill-composition weights n_i are held constant is equal to zero when human capital externalities are absent. In competitive equilibrium, the wage of type-*i* workers is linked to the production function by w_1 (h) = $\alpha h^{\theta} F_1$ (1, h) + $\beta h^{\theta} F_2$ (1, h), w_2 (h) = $h^{\theta} F_1$ (1, h), w_3 (h) = $a h^{\theta} F_1$ (1, h) + $b h^{\theta} F_2$ (1, h), and w_4 (h) = $h^{\theta} F_2$ (1, h). Making use of the relationship between wages and the production function and continuous differentiability of F (L, H), it can be shown that the term in square brackets is equal to (LF_{21} (1, h) + HF_{22} (1, h) / $\Sigma_i N_i$. Constant returns to scale of F (L, H) imply LF_{21} (1, h) + HF_{22} (1, h) = 0.

Appendix 7. Identifying Human Capital Externalities when the Whole Distribution of Human Capital Matters for Productivity and Wages

WE now consider the case where the whole distribution of human capital matters for productivity and wages. This amounts to relaxing the (implicit) assumptions regarding the pattern of substitutability among different levels of human capital in the human capital framework and allowing externalities to be driven by the whole distribution of human capital.

Assume that there are $X \equiv \{1, ..., Q\}$ types of workers and that output Y is determined by the production function $Y = AF(N(x) : x \in X)$, where A denotes TFP, N(x) denotes employment of workers with human capital x. The only assumptions imposed on the production function are weak concavity, twice continuously differentiability, and constant returns to scale. Suppose that externalities may be driven by the whole distribution of human capital $A = g(n(x) : x \in X \setminus q)$, where $n(x) \equiv N(x) / \sum_x N(x)$ denotes the share of workers with human capital x and q is the reference level of human capital. This specification captures the external effect of workers with human capital x through $\partial \ln g(n(x) : x \in X \setminus q) \partial n(x)$, the percentage increase in TFP caused by a one percentage point increase in n(x) accompanied by a one percentage point decrease in n(q), the share of workers with the reference level of human capital q. The average wage can now be written as

$$w = g(n(x): x \in X \setminus q) \left(\sum_{x \in X} \omega(n(x): x \in X \setminus q) l(x) \right) \Big|_{l(x) = n(x) \, \forall x \in X}, (A.7.1)$$

where the wage of workers with human capital *x* in the absence of externalities, ω (*n* (*x*) : $x \in X \setminus q$), is equal to

$$\omega (n (x): x \in X \setminus q) \equiv F_{n(x)} (n (1), ..., n (q-1), 1 - \sum_{x \in Xq} n (x), n (q+1), ..., n (Q)), (A.7.2)$$

under perfect competition $(F_{n(x)} \text{ denotes the partial derivative of } F(N(x) : x \in X) \text{ with respect to } n(x).$

Proposition 4. The elasticity of the average wage with respect to n(x) holding labor-force skill-composition l(x) constant is equal to the external effect of workers with human capital x,

$$\frac{\partial \ln \left(g\left(n\left(x\right): x \in X \setminus q\right) \left(\sum_{x \in X} \omega\left(n\left(x\right): x \in X \setminus q\right) l\left(x\right)\right)\right)}{\partial n\left(i\right)} \bigg|_{n\left(x\right) = l\left(x\right) \forall x \in X}$$
$$= \frac{\partial \ln g\left(n\left(x\right): x \in X \setminus q\right)}{\partial n\left(i\right)} \cdot$$
(A.7.3)

Proof. He left-hand-side of (A.7.3) can be written as

$$\frac{\partial \ln g(n(x): x \in X \setminus q)}{\partial n(i)} + \frac{\partial \ln \left(\sum_{x \in X} \omega(n(x): x \in X \setminus q) l(x)\right)}{\partial n(i)} \left| \frac{\partial \ln \left(\sum_{x \in X} \omega(n(x): x \in X \setminus q) l(x)\right)}{\partial n(i)} \right|_{n(x) = l(x) \forall x \in X}$$
(A.7.4)

Making use of (A.7.2) the second term is equal to

$$\sum_{x \in X} \left(F_{n(x)n(i)}(n(x) : x \in X) - F_{n(x)n(q)}(n(x) : x \in X) \right) l(x)$$

= $\sum_{x \in X} F_{n(i)n(x)}(n(x) : x \in X) l(x) - \sum_{x \in X} F_{n(q)n(x)}(n(x) : x \in X) l(x),$

where the equality uses that $F(N(x): x \in X)$ is twice continuously differentiable $(F_{n(x)n(x)})$ denotes the partial derivative of $F_{n(x)}(N(x): x \in X)$ with respect to n(x)). Constant returns to scale implies that $\sum_{x \in X} F_{n(j)n(x)}(n(x): x \in X)$ n(x) = 0 for all $j \in X$, which yields that the second term in (A.7.4 is zero.

References

- ACEMOGLU, D.(1996): "A Microfoundation for Social Increasing Returns in Human Capital Accumulation", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 111 (1), 779-804.
- and J. ANGRIST (1999): "How Large are the Social Returns to Education: Evidence from Compulsory Schooling Laws", NBER Working Paper W7444.
- and J. ANGRIST (2001): "How Large are the Social Returns to Education: Evidence from Compulsory Schooling Laws", in Ben Bernanke and Kenneth Rogoff (eds.), NBER Macroeconomic Annual 2000, 9-59.

ANGRIST, J.(1995): "The Economic Returns to Schooling in the West Bank and Gaza Strip", *American Economic Review*, 85, 1065-1087.

- AUTOR, D., L. KATZ and A. KRUEGER (1998): "Computing Inequality: Have Computers Changed the Labor Market?", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 113 (4), 1169-1213.
- AZARIADIS, C. and A. DRAZEN (1990): "Threshold Externalities in Economic Development", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 105, 501-526.
- BENABOU, R. (1996): "Equity and Efficiency in Human Capital Investment: The Local Connection", *Review of Economic Studies*, vol. 63, 237-264.
- BENHABIB, J. and M. SPIEGEL (1994): "The Role of Human Capital in Economic Development, Evidence from Aggregate Cross-Country Data", *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 34 (2), 143-173.
- BILS, M. and P. KLENOW (2000): "Does Schooling Cause Growth?", *American Economic Review*, 90, 1160-1193.
- BLACK, D. and V. HENDERSON (1999): "A Theory of Urban Growth", *Journal of Political Economy*, 107 (2), 252-284.
- BORJAS, G. (2003): "The Labor Demand Curve is Downward Sloping: Reexamining the Impact of Immigration on the Labor Market", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, vol. CXVIII (4), 1335-1374.
- CARD, D. (1999): "The Causal Effect of Education on Earnings", in *Handbook of Labor Economics*, Orley Ashenfelter and David Card (eds.), North Holland, Amsterdam.
- and T. LEMIEUX (2001): "Can Falling Supply Explain the Rising Return to College for Younger Men? A Cohort Based Analysis", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 116 (2), 705-746.
- CICCONE, A. and R. HALL (1996): "Productivity and the Density of Economic Activity", American Economic Review, 86 (1), 54-70.
- and G. PERI (2002): "Identifying Human Capital Externalities: Theory with an Application to US Cities", IZA Discussion Paper 488.

- CICCONE, A. and G. PERI: "Long-Run Substitutability Between More and Less Educated Workers: Evidence from U.S. States 1950-1990", *Review of Economics and Statistics* [forthcoming].
- CONLEY, T., F. FLIER and G. TSIANG (2003): "Spillovers from Local Market Human Capital and the Spatial Distribution of Productivity in Malaysia", *Advances in Economic Analysis G Policy*, vol. 3, 1 (2003), Article 5

[http://www.bepress.com/bejeap/advances/vol3/iss1/art5].

- FALLON, P. R. and P. R. G. LAYARD (1975): "Capital-Skill Complementarity, Income Distribution and Output Accounting", *Journal of Political Economy*, 83 (2), 279-302.
- GEMMELL, N. (1997): "Externalities to Higher Education", Report to the National Committee of Inquiry into Higher Education, HMSO Copyright Unit, St Clements House, Norwich.
- HECKMAN, J. (2000): "Policies to Foster Human Capital", *Research in Economics*, 51, 1 March, 3-56.
- and P. KLENOW (1998): "Human Capital Policy", in Michael Boskin (eds.), *Policies to Promote Capital Formation*, Hoover Institution.
- HENDERSON, V. (1986): "Efficiency of Resource Usage and City Size", *Journal of Urban Economics*, 18, 23-56.
- JOHNSON, G. (1997): "Changes in Earnings Inequality: The Role of Demand Shifts", Journal of Economic Perspectives, 11 (2), 41-54.
- KATZ, L. and K. MURPHY (1992): "Changes in Relative Wages 1963-1987 Supply and Demand Factors", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 107 (1), 35-78.
- KLENOW, P. and A. RODRÍGUEZ-CLARE (1997): "The Neoclassical Revival in Growth Economics: Has it Gone too Far?", in Ben Bernanke and Julio Rotemberg (eds.), *NBER Macroeconomic Annual* 1997, 73-103, MIT Press, Cambridge (MA).
- KRUEGER, A. and M. LINDAHL (2001): "Education for Growth: Why and for Whom?", Journal of Economic Literature, 39 (4), 1101-1136.
- LUCAS, R. E. (1988): "On the Mechanics of Economic Development", Journal of Monetary Economics, 22, 3-41.
- (1990): "Why Doesn't Capital Flow From Rich To Poor Countries?", American Economic Review Papers and Proceeding, 80 (3), 92-96.
- MANKIW, G., D. ROMER and D. WEIL (1992): "A Contribution to the Empirics of Economic Growth", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 107 (2), 407-438.
- MOOMAW, R. (1981): "Productivity and City Size: A Critique of the Evidence", *Quarterly Journal* of *Economics*, 95, 194-223.
- MORETTI, E. (2004a): "Estimating the Social Return to Higher Education: Evidence from Longitudinal and Repeated Cross-Sectional Data", *Journal of Econometrics*, 121 (1), 175-212.
- (2004b): "Workers' Education, Spillovers and Productivity: Evidence from Plant-Level Production Functions", *American Economic Review*, 94(3), 656-690.
- (2004c): "Human Capital Externalities in Cities", in *Handbook of Urban and Regional Economics*, vol. 4, Geography and Cities, J. V. Henderson and J.-F. Thisse (eds.)
- RAUCH, J. (1993): "Productivity Gains from Geographic Concentration in Cities", *Journal of Urban Economics*, 34, 380-400.

- ROBACK, J. (1982): "Wages, Rents, and the Quality of Life", *Journal of Political Economy*, 90, 1257-1278.
- RUDD, J. (2000): "Empirical Evidence on Human Capital Spillovers", Federal Reserve Board, Finance and Economics Discussion Paper 2000-46.
- TOPEL, R. (1997): "Factor Proportions and Relative Wages", *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 11(2), 55-74.
- (1999): "Labor Markets and Economic Growth", in *Handbook of Labor Economics*, Orley Ashenfelter and David Card (eds.), North Holland, Amsterdam.
- US BUREAU OF CENSUS (1970): Census of Population and Housing, United States, Washington DC. — (1990): Census of Population and Housing, United States, Washington DC.
- US DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE (1992): Economics and Statistics Administration, Bureau of Economic Analysis, Regional Economic Measurement Division, *REIS CD-ROM*.

A B O U T T H E A U T H O R S*

ANTONIO CICCONE holds a PhD in economics from Stanford University (U.S.A.) and is currently a research professor at ICREA (Catalan Institution for Research and Advances Studies) of Pompeu Fabra University. His research interest is in macroeconomics. He has published in *American Economic Review, Journal of the European Economic Association, Papers and Proceedings* and *Review of Economic Studies*, among others.

E-mail: antonio.ciccone@upf.edu

GIOVANNI PERI holds a PhD in economics from the University of California (Davis), where he is an associate professor. His research interest is in macroeconomics. He has a long list of publications in journals such as *Economic Journal, Review of Economic Studies* and *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, among others, and is co-editor of several books.

E-mail:gperi@ucdavis.edu

Any comments on the contents of this paper can be addressed to Antonio Ciccone at antonio.ciccone@upf.edu.

^{*} This paper has benefited greatly from the comments of Joshua Angrist, Federico Cingano, three anonymous referees, and an editor. We also thank Douglas Almond for excellent research assistance on an earlier version of this paper, David Card for help with the data, and seminar participants at UC Berkeley, UCL, and UPF for very useful comments. Daron Acemoglu and Joshua Angrist kindly made their data and programs available to us. Financial support from the CREI and CREA research institutes, the European Fund for Regional Development and the Caixa Galicia Foundation, the BBVA Foundation, and the Spanish Science and Technology Ministry SEC2001-0792/2002-01601 is gratefully acknowledged.

Fundación **BBVA**

DOCUMENTOS DE TRABAJO

NÚMEROS PUBLICADOS

DT 01/02	Trampa del desempleo y educación: un análisis de las relaciones entre los efectos
	desincentivadores de las prestaciones en el Estado del Bienestar y la educación
	Jorge Calero Martínez y Mónica Madrigal Bajo
DT 02/02	Un instrumento de contratación externa: los vales o cheques.
	Análisis teórico y evidencias empíricas
	Ivan Planas Miret
DT 03/02	Financiación capitativa, articulación entre niveles asistenciales
	y descentralización de las organizaciones sanitarias
	Vicente Ortún-Rubio y Guillem López-Casasnovas
DT 04/02	La reforma del IRPF y los determinantes de la oferta laboral
	en la familia española
	Santiago Álvarez García y Juan Prieto Rodríguez
DT 05/02	The Use of Correspondence Analysis in the Exploration
	of Health Survey Data
	Michael Greenacre
DT 01/03	¿Quiénes se beneficiaron de la reforma del IRPF de 1999?
	José Manuel González-Páramo y José Félix Sanz Sanz
DT 02/03	La imagen ciudadana de la Justicia
	José Juan Toharia Cortés
DT 03/03	Para medir la calidad de la Justicia (I): Abogados
	Juan José García de la Cruz Herrero
DT 04/03	Para medir la calidad de la Justicia (II): Procuradores
	Juan José García de la Cruz Herrero
DT 05/03	Dilación, eficiencia y costes: ¿Cómo ayudar a que la imagen de la Justicia
	se corresponda mejor con la realidad?
	Santos Pastor Prieto
DT 06/03	Integración vertical y contratación externa en los servicios
	generales de los hospitales españoles
	Jaume Puig-Junoy y Pol Pérez Sust
DT 07/03	Gasto sanitario y envejecimiento de la población en España
	Namkee Ahn, Javier Alonso Meseguer y José A. Herce San Miguel

DT 01/04	Métodos de solución de problemas de asignación de recursos sanitarios
	Helena Ramalhinho Dias Lourenço y Daniel Serra de la Figuera
DT 01/05	Licensing of University Inventions: The Role of a Technology Transfer Office
	Inés Macho-Stadler, David Pérez-Castrillo y Reinhilde Veugelers
DT 02/05	Estimating the Intensity of Price and Non-price Competition in Banking:
	An Application to the Spanish Case
	Santiago Carbó Valverde, Juan Fernández de Guevara Radoselovics, David Humphrey
	y Joaquín Maudos Villarroya
DT 03/05	Sistemas de pensiones y fecundidad. Un enfoque de generaciones solapadas
	Gemma Abío Roig y Concepció Patxot Cardoner
DT 04/05	Análisis de los factores de exclusión social
	Joan Subirats i Humet (Dir.), Ricard Gomà Carmona y Joaquim Brugué Torruella (Coords.)
DT 05/05	Riesgos de exclusión social en las Comunidades Autónomas
	Joan Subirats i Humet (Dir.), Ricard Gomà Carmona y Joaquim Brugué Torruella (Coords.)
DT 06/05	A Dynamic Stochastic Approach to Fisheries Management Assessment:
	An Application to some European Fisheries
	José M. Da-Rocha Álvarez y María-José Gutiérrez Huerta
DT 07/05	The New Keynesian Monetary Model: Does it Show the Comovement
	between Output and Inflation in the U.S. and the Euro Area?
	Ramón María-Dolores Pedrero y Jesús Vázquez Pérez
DT 08/05	The Relationship between Risk and Expected Return in Europe
	Ángel León Valle, Juan Nave Pineda y Gonzalo Rubio Irigoyen
DT 09/05	License Allocation and Performance in Telecommunications Markets
	Roberto Burguet Verde
DT 10/05	Procurement with Downward Sloping Demand: More Simple Economics
	Roberto Burguet Verde
DT 11/05	Technological and Physical Obsolescence and the Timing of Adoption
	Ramón Caminal Echevarría
DT 01/06	El efecto de la inmigración en las oportunidades de empleo
	de los trabajadores nacionales: Evidencia para España
	Raquel Carrasco Perea, Juan Francisco Jimeno Serrano y Ana Carolina Ortega Masagué
DT 02/06	Inmigración y pensiones: ¿Qué sabemos?
	José Ignacio Conde-Ruiz, Juan Francisco Jimeno Serrano y Guadalupe Valera Blanes
DT 03/06	A Survey Study of Factors Influencing Risk Taking Behavior
	in Real World Decisions under Uncertainty
	Manel Baucells Alibés y Cristina Rata
DT 04/06	Measurement of Social Capital and Growth:
	An Economic Methodology
	Francisco Pérez García, Lorenzo Serrano Martínez, Vicente Montesinos Santalucía
	y Juan Fernández de Guevara Radoselovics

DT 05/06	The Role of ICT in the Spanish Productivity Slowdown
	Matilde Mas Ivars y Javier Quesada Ibáñez
DT 06/06	Cross-Country Comparisons of Competition and Pricing Power
	in European Banking
	David Humphrey, Santiago Carbó Valverde, Joaquín Maudos Villarroya y Philip Molyneux
DT 07/06	The Design of Syndicates in Venture Capital
	Giacinta Cestone, Josh Lerner y Lucy White
DT 08/06	Efectos de la confianza en la información contable sobre el coste de la deuda
	Belén Gill de Albornoz Noguer y Manuel Illueca Muñoz
DT 09/06	Relaciones sociales y envejecimiento saludable
	Ángel Otero Puime, María Victoria Zunzunegui Pastor, François Béland,
	Ángel Rodríguez Laso y María Jesús García de Yébenes y Prous
DT 10/06	Ciclo económico y convergencia real en la Unión Europea:
	Análisis de los PIB per cápita en la UE-15
	José Luis Cendejas Bueno, Juan Luis del Hoyo Bernat, Jesús Guillermo Llorente Álvarez,
	Manuel Monjas Barroso y Carlos Rivero Rodríguez
DT 11/06	Esperanza de vida en España a lo largo del siglo xx:
	Las tablas de mortalidad del Instituto Nacional de Estadística
	Francisco José Goerlich Gisbert y Rafael Pinilla Pallejà
DT 12/06	Convergencia y desigualdad en renta permanente y corriente: Factores determinantes
	Lorenzo Serrano Martínez
DT 13/06	The Common Agricultural Policy and Farming in Protected Ecosystems:
	A Policy Analysis Matrix Approach
	Ernest Reig Martínez y Vicent Estruch Guitart
DT 14/06	Infrastructures and New Technologies as Sources of Spanish Economic Growth
	Matilde Mas Ivars
DT 15/06	Cumulative Dominance and Heuristic Performance
	in Binary Multi-Attribute Choice
	Manel Baucells Alibés, Juan Antonio Carrasco López y Robin M. Hogarth
DT 16/06	Dynamic Mixed Duopoly: A Model Motivated by Linux versus Windows
	Ramon Casadesus-Masanell y Pankaj Ghemawat
DT 01/07	Social Preferences, Skill Segregation and Wage Dynamics
	Antonio Cabrales Goitia, Antoni Calvó-Armengol y Nicola Pavoni
DT 02/07	Stochastic Dominance and Cumulative Prospect Theory
	Manel Baucells Alibés y Franz H. Heukamp
DT 03/07	Agency Revisited
	Ramon Casadesus-Masanell y Daniel F. Spulber
DT 04/07	Social Capital and Bank Performance:
	An International Comparison for OECD Countries
	José Manuel Pastor Monsálvez y Emili Tortosa-Ausina

DT 05/07	Cooperation and Cultural Transmission in a Coordination Game
	Gonzalo Olcina Vauteren y Vicente Calabuig Alcántara
DT 06/07	The Extended Atkinson Family and Changes in Expenditure Distribution:
	Spain 1973/74 – 2003
	Francisco J. Goerlich Gisbert, María Casilda Lasso de la Vega Martínez
	y Ana Marta Urrutia Careaga
DT 07/07	Análisis de la evolución de la dependencia en la tercera edad en España
	David Casado Marín
DT 08/07	Designing Contracts for University Spin-offs
	Inés Macho-Stadler, David Pérez-Castrillo y Reinhilde Veugelers
DT 09/07	Regional Differences in Socioeconomic Health Inequalities in Spain
	Pilar García Gómez y Ángel López Nicolás
DT 10/07	The Evolution of Inequity in Access to Health Care in Spain: 1987-2001
	Pilar García Gómez y Ángel López Nicolás
DT 11/07	The Economics of Credit Cards, Debit Cards and ATMs:
	A Survey and Some New Evidence
	Santiago Carbó-Valverde, Nadia Massoud, Francisco Rodríguez-Fernández,
	Anthony Saunders y Barry Scholnick
DT 12/07	El impacto comercial de la integración europea, 1950-2000
	Luis Fernando Lanaspa Santolaria, Antonio Montañés Bernal,
	Marcos Sanso Frago y Fernando Sanz Gracia
DT 13/07	Proyecciones de demanda de educación en España
	Andrés M. Alonso Fernández, Daniel Peña Sánchez de Rivera
	y Julio Rodríguez Puerta
DT 14/07	Aversion to Inequality and Segregating Equilibria
	Antonio Cabrales Goitia y Antoni Calvó-Armengol
DT 15/07	Corporate Downsizing to Rebuild Team Spirit
	Antonio Cabrales Goitia y Antoni Calvó-Armengol
DT 16/07	Maternidad sin matrimonio: Nueva vía de formación de familias en España
	Teresa Castro Martín
DT 17/07	Immigrant Mothers, Spanish Babies: Childbearing Patterns of Foreign Women
	in Spain
	Marta Roig Vila y Teresa Castro Martín
DT 18/07	Los procesos de convergencia financiera en Europa y su relación con el ciclo económico
	José Luis Cendejas Bueno, Juan Luis del Hoyo Bernat, Jesús Guillermo Llorente Álvarez,
	Manuel Monjas Barroso y Carlos Rivero Rodríguez
DT 19/07	On Capturing Rent from a Non-Renewable Resource International Monopoly:
	A Dynamic Game Approach
	Santiago J. Rubio Jorge

7 Simulación de políticas impositivas medioambientales:
Un modelo de equilibrio general de la economía española
Antonio Manresa Sánchez y Ferran Sancho Pifarré
7 Causas del crecimiento económico en Argentina (1990-2004):
Otro caso de «tiranía de los números»
Ariel Alberto Coremberg
7 Regional Financial Development and Bank Competition:
Effects on Economic Growth
Juan Fernández de Guevara Radoselovics y Joaquín Maudos Villarroya
7 Política fiscal e instituciones presupuestarias en los países
de la reciente ampliación de la Unión Europea
Carlos Mulas-Granados, Jorge Onrubia Fernández y Javier Salinas Jiménez
7 Measuring International Economic Integration:
Theory and Evidence of Globalization
Iván Arribas Fernández, Francisco Pérez García y Emili Tortosa-Ausina
7 Wage Inequality among Higher Education Graduates:
Evidence from Europe
José García Montalvo
7 Governance of the Knowledge-Intensive Firm
Vicente Salas Fumás
7 Profit, Productivity and Distribution: Differences Across Organizational Form
Emili Grifell-Tatjé y C. A. Knox Lovell



Fundación **BBVA**

Gran Vía, 12 48001 Bilbao España Tel.: +34 94 487 52 52 Fax: +34 94 424 46 21

Paseo de Recoletos, 10 28001 Madrid España Tel.: +34 91 374 54 00 Fax: +34 91 374 85 22

publicaciones@fbbva.es www.fbbva.es

